# MULTISCALE GEOMETRIC APPROACH TO CONTINUUM MECHANICS AND THERMODYNAMICS

(Habilitation Thesis)



# Michal Pavelka Mathematical Institute, Faculty of Mathematics and Physics, Charles University

# Subject: Mathematics – mathematical modeling and numerical mathematics

Faculty of Mathematics and Physics Charles University

– November 2021 –

# VÍCEŠKÁLOVÝ GEOMETRICKÝ PŘÍSTUP K MECHANICE A TERMODYNAMICE KONTINUA

(Habilitační práce)



# Michal Pavelka Matematický, ústav, Matematicko-fyzikální fakulta, Univerzita Karlova

# Obor: Matematika – matematické modelování a numerická matematika

Matematicko-fyzikální fakulta Univerzita Karlova

- listopad 2021 -

I would like to express my gratitude to my teachers Milan Pokorný, Jaroslav Hron, František Maršík, Juraj Kosek, and Miroslav Grmela, who formed my way towards this habilitation.

I am also grateful to my friends and colleagues, especially Václav Klika, Oğul Esen, and Ilya Peshkov, with whom it is always fun to work on any topic.

I am also in debt to my family, especially my parents, wife, and kids, whose time with me was sacrificed.

# Contents

1	Intr	roduction	7
<b>2</b>	2 Multiscale geometric continuum mechanics		
	2.1	Classical Hamiltonian mechanics	12
	2.2	Hamiltonian mechanics and Poisson geometry	15
	2.3	Rigid body motion	17
	2.4	Lagrangian continuum mechanics	19
	2.5	Eulerian continuum mechanics	20
	2.6	Hamiltonian kinetic theory	24
	2.7	Hamiltonian electrodynamics of moving media $\ldots$	25
	2.8	Reversibility and Onsager-Casimir reciprocal relations	28
	2.9	Riemannian structure of Hamiltonian mechanics of hydrody- namic type	30
3	Mu	tliscale non-equilibrium thermodynamics	32
	3.1	Classical and multiscale non-equilibrium thermodynamics	32
	3.2	General Equation for Non-Equilibrium Reversible-Irreversible Coupling (GENERIC)	34
	3.3	Time-reversal transformation and Onsager-Casimir reciprocal relations	38
	3.4	Dual gradient dynamics and non-convex dissipation potentials	39
	3.5	Ehrenfest regularization of Hamiltonian systems $\ . \ . \ . \ .$	44
	3.6	Lack-of-fit reduction	46
4	Conclusion, my contribution, and outlook		50
5	References		54
6	6 Attached papers		68

6.1	Continuum Mechanics and Thermodynamics in the Hamilton and the Godunov-type Formulations [Peshkov et al., 2018]	70
6.2	On Hamiltonian continuum mechanics $\left[ \text{Pavelka et al., } 2020 \text{b} \right]$ .	71
6.3	Multiscale thermodynamics of charged mixtures [Vágner et al.,2021]	72
6.4	Non-convex dissipation potentials in multiscale non-equilibrium thermodynamics [Janečka and Pavelka, 2018]	73
6.5	Ehrenfest regularization of Hamiltonian systems [Pavelka et al.,2019a]	74
6.6	Generalization of the dynamical lack-of-fit reduction [Pavelka et al., 2020a]	75

# 1 Introduction

"The generality that I embrace, instead of dazzling our lights, will reveal to us rather the true laws of Nature in all their splendor, and we will find there even stronger reasons to admire its beauty and simplicity."

— Leonhard Euler<sup>1</sup>

Non-equilibrium thermodynamics has a very general ambition to systematically describe evolution of any macroscopic system. Instead of making up a particular theory for each particular type of systems, the goal is to have a general structure capable to describe all systems, although such a goal might not be achievable. There are three main routes in non-equilibrium thermodynamics: (i) classical non-equilibrium thermodynamics based on balance laws, entropic closures, and constitutive relations, (ii) non-equilibrium statistical mechanics, using ensemble averaging or maximization of entropy, (iii) and geometric mechanics in connection with thermodynamics, described by cotangent bundles, Lie groups, and Lie algebras [Arnold, 1966]. In this habilitation, I advocate the third route.

What are the difficulties of classical non-equilibrium thermodynamics? Let us consider for instance complex fluids, fluids with some additional internal structures (for instance chains of polymeric molecules). Despite some early observations of complex fluids, the need for a systematic description of their motion rose with the advent of plastics. Since then, flows of complex fluids have been ubiquitous in chemical industry (fluids in reactors), processing industry (flowing foods and paints), or even electrochemistry (redox flow batteries). But traditional fluid mechanics based on the Navier-Stokes equations fails to predict behavior of complex fluids and it is necessary to add extra state variables expressing the internal structures of the fluids (for instance correlations of orientations of polymeric molecules) [Bird et al., 1987, Müller and Ruggeri, 1998].

Classical non-equilibrium thermodynamics proceeds in four steps: First the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "La généralité que j'embrasse, au lieu d'éblouïr nos lumieres, nous découvrira plutôt les véritables loix de la Nature dans tout leur éclat, et on y trouvera des raisons encore plus fortes, d'en admirer la beauté et la simplicité." [Dugas and de Broglie, 1950]

state variables are identified (typically mass, momentum, energy, and an extra state variable). Second, their balance laws are written (time derivative of a quantity equals to the divergence of flux of the quantity plus a production term). The balance laws involve some unknown quantities like the stress tensor or heat flux. Third, the evolution equation for entropy is obtained from the balance laws, still containing the undetermined quantities. Fourth, constitutive relations are chosen, expressing the unknown quantities in terms of the state variables while obeying the second law of thermodynamics [Truesdell, 1984, Müller, 1985, Jou et al., 2010, Berezovski and Ván, 2017].

But the second step (writing the balance laws) has little physical relevance for quantities that are not supposed to be conserved. Indeed, any partial differential equation can be written in the form of balance law if it contains only the first time derivative of a quantity and higher derivatives only with respect to space. There are only eight basic conserved quantities in classical mechanics: mass, three components of momentum, three components of angular momentum, and energy [Landau and Lifshitz, 1976]. Therefore, densities of mass, momentum, and energy obey conservation laws, although their evolution equations contain an a priori unknown stress tensor and heat flux (expressing Newton's laws and collecting non-mechanical macroscopic fluxes of energy). The state variables encoding some internal structure of the complex fluid, however, are typically not conserved and thus their balance laws are merely an arbitrary way of writing the equations. Moreover, the fourth step (identification of the constitutive relations) is often not unique, since one can choose any constitutive relations that do not violate the second law of thermodynamics; anything that neither increases nor decreases the entropy can be added. Classical non-equilibrium thermodynamics does not provide any general and unique way towards evolution equations of complex fluids.

On the other hand, Newtonian mechanics can be seen as a consequence of the principle of stationary action, and this principle leads also to continuum mechanics of complex fluids. A geometric formulation of the principle of stationary action is Hamiltonian mechanics on a cotangent bundle, and continuum mechanics can be formulated in a geometric way as well. The state variables are then equipped with geometric structures like Poisson brackets, and once the energy is determined, the evolution equations are implied in a unique way with no need of balance laws or constitutive relations. The conservation laws become consequences of geometry instead of being postulated. In other words, geometric mechanics is an alternative and advantageous approach towards continuum mechanics [Grmela and Carreau, 1987].

Another route in non-equilibrium thermodynamics is based on statistical mechanics. It starts with a detailed description, for instance by means of distribution functions of classical particles, and evolution equations of some less detailed state variables are then obtained by averaging the detailed evolution equations. Although the process of averaging is feasible in simple cases, it becomes difficult in more complex nonlinear cases. The averaging is typically carried out with respect to space (BBGKY hierarchy) or momentum (Grad hierarchy) [Kirkwood, 1946, Grad, 1958, Struchtrup, 2005, Gorban and Karlin, 2005, Ruggeri and Sugiyama, 2015]. Geometric formulation of the averaging makes the process more tractable in some cases, since it splits the equations into several building blocks that can be treated separately. However, many parts of statistical mechanics are still waiting to be geometrized, provided that it is possible at all.

This habilitation summarizes a part of my research related to multiscale Hamiltonian mechanics and continuum thermodynamics. From the mathematical point of view, I work with cotangent bundles, infinite-dimensional Lie groups, and with the related Poisson geometry [Arnold, 1966] in combination with generalized gradient dynamics [Otto, 2001]. From the physical point of view, the Poisson geometry can be seen as Hamiltonian mechanics (reversible evolution), while gradient dynamics, evolution along the gradient of a dissipation potential, provides thermodynamic behavior (growth of entropy and irreversibility). This combination is a key idea of the General Equation for Non-Equilibrium Reversible-Irreversible Coupling (GENERIC), where the evolution is prescribed as the sum of reversible Hamiltonian mechanics and irreversible gradient dynamics [Grmela and Öttinger, 1997, Öttinger and Grmela, 1997].

The Hamiltonian part of GENERIC is given by two building blocks, a Poisson bracket and an energy functional, while the gradient part by another two building blocks, a dissipation potential and entropy. This decomposition to building blocks allows GENERIC to better express the multiscale character of non-equilibrium thermodynamics, where a single physical system can be described by various sets of state variables, differing in the amount of details. Such different levels of description should be compatible with each other so that building blocks on less detailed levels of description can be derived from the building blocks on more detailed levels. Moreover, it is possible to equip the deterministic GENERIC equations with stochastic terms whose compatibility with the deterministic evolution is guaranteed by a generalized fluctuation-dissipation theorem [Öttinger, 2005].

How to construct continuum mechanics geometrically? Why is continuum mechanics (disregarding the dissipative terms) often described by hyperbolic evolution equations? Is it possible to construct dissipative dynamics from purely Hamiltonian mechanics? Can dissipation potential be non-convex? From where does irreversible evolution emerge, if motion of classical particles is purely reversible? Having detailed evolution equations for a physical system, how to derive a less detailed description? Answers to these questions can be found in our monograph [Pavelka et al., 2018b] and the six recent papers attached to this thesis.<sup>2</sup>

Section 2 focuses on geometric continuum mechanics constructed from Poisson brackets. First, canonical Hamiltonian mechanics is derived from the stationary action principle in both finite-dimensional systems (mechanics of classical particles) and infinite-dimensional systems (Lagrangian continuum mechanics). The principle of stationary action also gives the evolution equations of the rigid body, which is a prototype of non-canonical Hamiltonian mechanics (degenerate, with non-empty kernel). Subsequently, canonical Lagrangian continuum mechanics is reduced to non-canonical Eulerian continuum mechanics, suitable for both solids and complex fluids. Kinetic theory is another example of non-canonical Hamiltonian mechanics. It is obtained by a lift of classical particle mechanics to the level of distribution functions (mathematically to a Lie algebra dual), and it can be reduced to fluid mechanics. Moreover, fluid mechanics can be extended by a semidirect product to a Hamiltonian theory of electrodynamics of moving media. All these mechanical equations are reversible with respect to the time-reversal transformation, they automatically satisfy Onsager-Casimir reciprocal relations, and they typically consist of quasilinear hyperbolic partial differential equations of the first order.

Section 3 equips reversible mechanics with irreversible terms, forming the GENERIC structure. GENERIC automatically satisfies a nonlinear generalization Onsager-Casimir reciprocal relations. The dissipation potentials (gen-

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ In all the attached papers I am either the first author or the corresponding author, or the main author was my student writing the paper as a part of his thesis.

erating the irreversible evolution) are usually convex, but they can be also non-convex without violating the second law of thermodynamics. Such nonconvexity results in a kind of phase transitions in behavior of complex fluids (for instance, jumps of the stress tensor when increasing strain rate). Moreover, reversible mechanical equations can be equipped with irreversible dynamics constructed from the mechanics (for instance dissipative rigid body mechanics). Finally, a detailed GENERIC description (in particular purely Hamiltonian mechanics) can be reduced to a less detailed GENERIC evolution. Such compatibility between various levels of description is the essence of multiscale non-equilibrium thermodynamics, illustrated in Figure 1.



Figure 1: On the cover of monograph [Pavelka et al., 2018b], we would like to demonstrate several features of non-equilibrium thermodynamics. First, thermodynamics is an inherently multiscale theory. Each level of description differs in the amount of contained information, and neighboring levels should be compatible with each other. Second, there are many approaches (languages) towards non-equilibrium thermodynamics. Finally, since nonequilibrium thermodynamics aims to eventually describe all macroscopic physical systems within a single framework, it will probably never be finished.

## 2 Multiscale geometric continuum mechanics

"The aim of Mathematical Physics is not only to facilitate for the physicist the numerical calculation of certain constants or the integration of certain differential equations. It is besides, it is above all, to reveal to him the hidden harmony of things in making him see them in a new way."

— Henri Poincaré [Poincaré, 2012]

Instead of working directly with the evolution equations in Newtonian mechanics, we prefer to reveal the geometric structure under the hood (Poisson brackets and energy). Poisson brackets are skew-symmetric bilinear operators that take two functionals of chosen state variables and give another functional, and together with energy they give the reversible evolution equations of the state variables. In classical mechanics of particles, the Poisson bracket is canonical, see Section 2.1, but for other state variables (for instance rigid body mechanics), they are different and non-canonical (having non-zero kernel). A feature of Poisson brackets is the Jacobi identity, thanks to which the evolution equations preserve the Poisson bracket, and skew-symmetry of the brackets ensures conservation of energy. Poisson brackets and energy express a self-consistent internal structure of equations in mechanics.

From the mathematical point of view, a Poisson bracket and an energy constitute a Poisson geometry, which is a generalization of symplectic geometry (canonical) to the non-canonical case. Poisson brackets can be derived from the principle of stationary action or by reduction from more detailed Poisson brackets. Figure 2 shows a hierarchy of Poisson brackets that contains the Lagrangian continuum mechanics (elasticity with large deformations), the Eulerian theory of with distortion (unifying the motion of fluids and solids), mechanics of non-Newtonian fluids, fluid mechanics, kinetic theory, and electrodynamics of moving media. Further realizations of Poisson geometry can be found in [Pavelka et al., 2018b], including a theory of charged mixtures. But let us start from the beginning, recalling the Hamiltonian formulation of classical mechanics of particles.

#### 2.1 Classical Hamiltonian mechanics

The geometric character of classical mechanics goes back to Lagrange, Bernoulli, Euler, Poisson, d'Alambert, Jacobi, and Hamilton [Lagrange, 1811, Lagrange



Figure 2: A hierarchy of levels of description in Hamiltonian continuum mechanics. The principle of stationary actions leads to the starting points in the diagram (blue): (i) the Lagrangian continuum mechanics (state variables  $\mathbf{x}$  and  $\mathbf{M}$ ), (ii) the Liouville equation (state variable  $f_N$ ), and (iii) Hamiltonian electrodynamics (state variables  $\mathbf{D}$  and  $\mathbf{B}$ ). From the Poisson brackets at those starting points, one can derive less detailed Poisson brackets expressing kinematics on less detailed levels of description (red). Solid arrows indicate such projections. This way we get Eulerian continuum mechanics (with state variables  $\rho$ ,  $\mathbf{m}$ , s, and  $\mathbf{A}$ ) and kinetic theory (state variable f). From the latter two, one gets the fluid mechanics (state variables  $\rho$ ,  $\mathbf{m}$ , and s). Finally, coupling of electrodynamics and fluid mechanics by means of the semidirect product theory leads to electrodynamics of moving media (state variables  $\rho$ ,  $\mathbf{m}$ , s,  $\mathbf{D}$ , and  $\mathbf{B}$ ).

and Bertrand, 1855, Poisson, 1809, Jacobi, 1840, Hamilton, 1834, 1835]. Now we only briefly recall the classical finite-dimensional Hamiltonian mechanics [Landau and Lifshitz, 1976, Goldstein, 2002].

Once a manifold  $\mathbf{Q}$  with coordinates  $\mathbf{q}$  is defined, a Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{q}, \dot{\mathbf{q}})$  is used to construct an action integral,

$$\int_{t_0}^{t_1} \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{q}, \dot{\mathbf{q}}) dt.$$
 (2.1)

The stationary points (curves) of the action, which describe motion of the physical system parametrized by coordinates  $\mathbf{q}$ , are solutions to the Euler-Lagrange equations, which can be rewritten as Hamilton canonical equations,

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{\mathbf{q}} \\ \dot{\mathbf{p}} \end{pmatrix} = \underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}}_{=\mathbf{L}} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} H_{\mathbf{q}} \\ H_{\mathbf{p}} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.2)

Momentum  $\mathbf{p} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{\mathbf{q}}}$  and the Hamiltonian  $H(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{p}) = -L(\mathbf{q}, \dot{\mathbf{q}}(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{p})) + \dot{\mathbf{q}}(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{p}) \cdot \mathbf{p}$  come from the velocity  $\dot{\mathbf{q}}$  and Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}$  by Legendre transformation. From Equation (2.2), we can see that the evolution of position and momentum is given by an operator  $\mathbf{L}$  (here just a matrix) and by derivatives of the Hamiltonian (here denoted by subscripts). The operator  $\mathbf{L}$  is called a Poisson bivector, it is skew-symmetric and twice contravariant on the manifold  $\mathcal{M} = T^*\mathbf{Q}$  (the cotangent bundle of  $\mathbf{Q}$ ). In the inertial reference frames, the Hamiltonian coincides with the energy of the system<sup>3</sup>.

Time evolution of any functional F of the state variables  $\mathbf{q}$  and  $\mathbf{p}$  can be expressed as

$$\dot{F}(\mathbf{q}(t), \mathbf{p}(t)) = \{F, E\}^{(CM)},$$
(2.3)

where  $\{\bullet, \bullet\}^{(CM)}$  is the canonical Poisson bracket of classical mechanics,

$$\{F,G\}^{(CM)} = F_{q^i}G_{p_i} - G_{q^i}F_{p_i}.$$
(2.4)

Equation (2.3) looks different from the Hamilton canonical equations (2.2), both are equivalent.

Poisson bivector  $\mathbf{L}$  in classical mechanics can be also seen as the inverse of the symplectic two-form, and Hamilton canonical equations represent evolution

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Note that in non-inertial reference frames, the connection between energy and Hamiltonian is less direct[Strocchi, 2018].

within symplectic geometry [Fecko, 2006]. However, the Poisson bivectors in continuum mechanics will typically be non-invertible, breaking the direct connection with symplectic geometry. Therefore, we have to introduce the more general Poisson geometry.

#### 2.2 Hamiltonian mechanics and Poisson geometry

Poisson geometry can be seen as a generalization of symplectic geometry, allowing for non-invertible Poisson bivectors and for additional conserved quantities than those obtained by the Noether theorem [Goldstein, 2002]. From the geometric perspective, the reason is that the manifold of state variables is typically not a cotangent bundle, but rather a Lie group, Lie algebra, or its dual.

Consider a space  $\mathcal{M}$  (or manifold) with local coordinates  $\mathbf{x}$  (state variables). Kinematics of the state variables is expressed by a Poisson bracket, which may be different from the Poisson bracket of classical mechanics (2.4). In general, a Poisson bracket is a bilinear mapping taking two functionals from a space of functionals over  $\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M})$ , and giving another functional from  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M}), \{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M}), \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M})\} \mapsto \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M})$ . Moreover, it has the following properties:

skew-symmetry: 
$$\{F, G\} = -\{G, F\},$$
 (2.5a)

Leibniz rule : 
$$\{FG, H\} = F\{G, H\} + \{F, H\}G,$$
 (2.5b)

and Jacobi identity : 
$$\{F, \{G, H\}\} + \{G, \{H, F\}\} + \{H, \{F, G\}\} = 0$$
(2.5c)

for all admissible<sup>4</sup> functionals F, G, and H. Evolution of any functional  $F \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M})$  and the evolution of the state variables are then prescribed as<sup>5</sup>

$$\dot{F} = \{F, E\}$$
 and  $\dot{x}^{i} = L^{ij} E_{x^{j}},$  (2.6)

and the relations between a Poisson bivector and the corresponding Poisson bracket are

$$\{F,G\} = \langle F_{\mathbf{x}} | \mathbf{L} | G_{\mathbf{x}} \rangle \quad \text{and} \quad L^{ij} = \{x^i, x^j\}.$$
(2.7)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Admissible so that the mathematical operations are well defined [Ebin and Marsden, 1970].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The equivalence between the evolution of functionals and evolution of state variables can be shown by the chain rule, as long as we have solutions in the classical sense [Evans, 1998].

The right hand side of the latter equation in (2.6) can be interpreted as components of the Hamiltonian vector field

$$\mathbb{X} = X^{i} \frac{\delta}{\delta x^{i}} = L^{ij} E_{x^{j}} \frac{\delta}{\delta x^{i}} = \mathbf{L} |dE\rangle, \qquad (2.8)$$

which can be also seen as the action of the Poisson bivector  $\mathbf{L} = L^{ij} \frac{\delta}{\delta x^i} \otimes \frac{\delta}{\delta x^j}$  on the differential of energy  $dE = E_{x^i} dx^i$ . In order to cover also field theories, we use the functional derivatives  $\delta \bullet / \delta \bullet$  and the contraction between two indexes then stands for integration ( $L^2$  scalar product) or the duality in the sense of distributions [Courant and Hilbert, 2008, Roubíček, 2005, Evans, 1998].

What is the meaning of properties (2.5), that any Poisson bracket has to satisfy? From the skew-symmetry of the Poisson bracket, one obtains the first law of thermodynamics,

$$\dot{E} = \{E, E\} = -\{E, E\} = 0,$$
(2.9)

the law of conservation of energy. Therefore, we shall be restricted to isolated systems in inertial Galilean reference frames, where the Hamiltonian coincides with the energy [Strocchi, 2018] and where energy is conserved. The second property (Leibniz rule) tells that biasing energy by a constant has no effect on the evolution equations. Finally, Jacobi identity can be interpreted as a requirement of self-consistency of the Hamiltonian evolution. Indeed, it is equivalent to the equation  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbb{X}}\mathbf{L} = 0$ , expressing that the Lie derivative of the Poisson bivector field with respect to the Hamiltonian vector field is zero, or that the Poisson bivector is passively advected by the Hamiltonian flow [Fecko, 2006].

Due to the possible degeneracy of the Poisson bivector, Poisson brackets admit additional conserved quantities, Casimirs (here denoted by S), for which it holds that

$$\{S,G\} = 0 \quad \forall G \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M}).$$

$$(2.10)$$

For instance entropy is a typical Casimir of the Poisson brackets, as we shall see later. Poisson brackets admitting Casimirs are non-canonical (they can not be transformed to the canonical form).

The Poisson bracket of classical mechanics originates from the principle of least action and subsequent interpretation of the Euler-Lagrange equations as dynamics on the cotangent bundle. Where do non-canonical Poisson brackets come from? They can be obtained by variation of action on a Lie group, where only variations respecting the Lie group are allowed [Arnold, 1966], and by reduction from more detailed Poisson brackets [Pavelka et al., 2016]. Let us first discuss the former possibility.

#### 2.3 Rigid body motion

In this section we show how a non-canonical Poisson bracket is brought up when describing a freely rotating rigid body. Motion of the rigid body can be seen as motion within the Lie group SO(3), which consists of all rotations in the three-dimensional Euclidean space [Poincaré, 1901]. Let us denote by  $\mathbf{X}$  (Lagrangian coordinates) the position of a material point in a frame corotating with the rigid body (body frame). The position of the point in the laboratory space (Eulerian coordinates) can be then expressed as  $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{X}$ where  $\mathbf{R} \in SO(3)$  is an (orthogonal) rotation matrix. When we differentiate this relation with respect to time, we obtain the velocity  $\dot{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{v}$  in terms of the rotation matrix,

$$\mathbf{v} = \dot{\mathbf{R}} \cdot \mathbf{X} = \underbrace{\dot{\mathbf{R}} \cdot \mathbf{R}^{-1}}_{=\hat{\omega}} \cdot \mathbf{x}, \qquad (2.11)$$

where  $\hat{\boldsymbol{\omega}}$  is a skew-symmetric angular velocity matrix (an element of the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{so}(3)$ ). Transformation of this matrix into the body frame,

$$\hat{\mathbf{\Omega}} = \mathbf{R}^{-1} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{\omega}} \cdot \mathbf{R} = \mathbf{R}^{-1} \dot{\mathbf{R}}, \qquad (2.12)$$

is called the body angular velocity. Because this matrix is skew-symmetric, it can be represented by the pseudovector of body angular velocity  $\Omega$  such that  $\hat{\Omega} \cdot \mathbf{X} = \Omega \times \mathbf{X}$ , which leads to formula

$$\mathbf{R}^{-1} \cdot \dot{\mathbf{R}} \cdot \mathbf{X} = \mathbf{\Omega} \times \mathbf{X} \qquad \forall \mathbf{X}.$$
(2.13)

Varying **R** and  $\Omega$  in formula (2.13), we obtain that the variations of  $\Omega$  are constrained to

$$\delta\Omega = \Sigma + \Omega \times \Sigma, \tag{2.14}$$

where  $\Sigma$  is the pseudovector corresponding to the skew-symmetric matrix  $\hat{\Sigma} = \mathbf{R}^{-1} \cdot \delta \mathbf{R} \in \mathfrak{so}(3)$ . Details of the calculation can be found in [Marsden and Scheurle, 1993], and an introduction to Lie groups and algebras in [Fecko, 2006]. So far we have recalled kinematics on the group SO(3), including the form of admissible variations within the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{so}(3)$ .

Let us now proceed to the variational principle. The kinetic energy of the rotating rigid body,

$$T = \int \frac{1}{2} \rho_0 \mathbf{v}^2 d\mathbf{X}, \qquad (2.15)$$

can be also expressed in terms of the angular velocity, using equation (2.11), as

$$T = \frac{1}{2} I^{ij} \Omega_i \Omega_j, \quad \text{where} \quad I^{ij} = \int \left( \mathbf{X}^2 \delta^{ij} - X^i X^j \right) d\mathbf{x}$$
(2.16)

is the tensor of inertia. Because we have the freedom to choose the body reference frame, we choose it so that the tensor of inertia becomes diagonal,  $\mathbf{I} = \text{diag}(I_x, I_y, I_z)$  with  $I_x \leq I_y \leq I_z$ . Variation of action

$$\delta \int_{t_0}^{t_1} T(\mathbf{\Omega}) dt \tag{2.17}$$

respecting constraint (2.14) leads to the Euler-Lagrange equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\mathbf{I}\cdot\mathbf{\Omega}\right) = \left(\mathbf{I}\cdot\mathbf{\Omega}\right)\times\mathbf{\Omega},\tag{2.18}$$

where  $\mathbf{I}$  is the tensor of inertia.

Similarly as in the case of classical mechanics in Section 2.1, we interpret the Euler-Lagrange equation in terms of a state variable dual to the velocity, the angular momentum in the body frame,  $\mathbf{M} = \frac{\partial T}{\partial \mathbf{\Omega}}$ . Because the angular velocity  $\Omega$  is an element of the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{so}(3)$ , derivative of a functional with respect to the angular velocity is in the dual space,  $\mathbf{M} \in \mathfrak{so}(3)^*$ . Euler-Lagrange equation (2.18) then becomes

$$\dot{\mathbf{M}} = \mathbf{M} \times \frac{\partial E}{\partial \mathbf{M}} = {\{\mathbf{M}, E\}}^{(SO(3))},$$
 (2.19)

with Hamiltonian

$$E = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{M_x^2}{I_x} + \frac{M_y^2}{I_y} + \frac{M_z^2}{I_z} \right)$$
(2.20)

obtained from the Lagrangian T by Legendre transformation. The Poisson bracket of rigid body mechanics is

$$\{F,G\}^{(SO(3))} = -\mathbf{M} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial \mathbf{M}} \times \frac{\partial G}{\partial \mathbf{M}}\right) \quad \forall F(\mathbf{M}) \text{ and } G(\mathbf{M}).$$
(2.21)

From the geometrical point of view, bracket (2.21) is a prototype of so called Lie-Poisson brackets, which provide Hamiltonian evolution on Lie algebra duals [Marsden and Ratiu, 1999].

Similarly as the Poisson bracket of classical mechanics corresponds to the canonical Poisson bivector, Poisson bracket (2.21) corresponds to Poisson bivector

$$L^{ij} = -M_k \varepsilon^{kij}. \tag{2.22}$$

In contrast with the canonical case, however, this bivector is not constant. Moreover, the rigid body Poisson bracket allows for conserved quantities that are not connected with symmetries of the Hamiltonian through the Noether theorem [Landau and Lifshitz, 1976]. When we consider a function of the magnitude of  $\mathbf{M}$ ,  $S(\mathbf{M}^2)$ , the value of the function is conserved,

$$\dot{S} = \{S, E\}^{(SO(3))} = -M_i \varepsilon_{ijk} \frac{\partial S}{\partial (\mathbf{M}^2)} 2M_j E_{m_k} = 0, \qquad (2.23)$$

as follows from the simultaneous symmetry and skew-symmetry with respect to swapping  $i \leftrightarrow j$ . Bracket (2.21) has thus Casimir functions  $S(\mathbf{m}^2)$ , which are conserved regardless the choice of energy. This means that the angular momentum observed from the body frame does not change its magnitude<sup>6</sup>

In summary, variation of action on Lie groups leads to non-canonical Poisson brackets, which can have Casimir functionals. Let us now explore another way towards Poisson brackets. We shall start with a Poisson bracket on a detailed level of description, define a mapping to a less detailed level, and obtain another Poisson bracket on the less detailed level.

#### 2.4 Lagrangian continuum mechanics

In Lagrangian continuum mechanics, each material point has a Lagrangian label **X**. These labels then form a continuous manifold of Lagrangian points. The position of each Lagrangian point within the laboratory frame is expressed by the Lagrange  $\mapsto$  Euler mapping  $\mathbf{x}(t, \mathbf{X})$ , and the Lagrangian then depends on the position mapping  $\mathbf{x}$  and its derivatives,  $L(\mathbf{x}, \partial_t \mathbf{x}, \partial_{\mathbf{X}} \mathbf{x})$ . Similarly as in classical particle mechanics, the principle of stationary action then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Notice, however, that the direction of  $\mathbf{M}$  varies in time. It is the angular momentum in the laboratory frame stays constant while the angular momentum in the body frame evolves [Landau and Lifshitz, 1976].

leads to the Hamilton canonical equations on the Lagrangian manifold,

$$\partial_t x^i = E_{M_i} \tag{2.24a}$$

$$\partial_t M_i = -E_{x^i},\tag{2.24b}$$

where the Lagrangian momentum density  $\mathbf{M}(t, \mathbf{X})$  is the Legendre conjugate of the velocity  $\partial_t \mathbf{x}$ . Note that the subscripts stand for the functional derivatives. Hamilton canonical Equations (2.24) are also generated by the canonical Poisson bracket of Lagrangian mechanics,

$$\{F,G\}^{(\text{Lagrange})} = \int \left(\frac{\delta F}{\delta x^i} \frac{\delta G}{\delta M_i} - \frac{\delta G}{\delta x^i} \frac{\delta F}{\delta M_i}\right), \qquad (2.25)$$

which can be seen as the infinite-dimensional version of the Poisson bracket of classical mechanics.

The energy consists of the kinetic energy and elastic energy,

$$E = \int \left( \frac{\mathbf{M}^2(t, \mathbf{X})}{2\rho_0(\mathbf{X})} + \rho_0(\mathbf{X}) W\left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{x}(t, \mathbf{X})}{\partial \mathbf{X}}\right) \right) d\mathbf{X}, \quad (2.26)$$

where  $\rho_0(\mathbf{X})$  is a constant-in-time reference mass density. Finally, by plugging this energy into Hamilton canonical equations (2.24), we get

$$\partial_t x^i = \frac{M^i}{\rho_0} \tag{2.27a}$$

$$\partial_t M_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial X^I} \left( \rho_0 \frac{\partial W}{\partial \frac{\partial x^i}{\partial X^I}} \right), \qquad (2.27b)$$

which are the evolution equations for Lagrangian elasticity in large deformations with position and momentum density as the state variables. Although these equations might appear simple, they contain a large amount of information because position of each material point is known. Instead, we can focus on some overall properties of the continuum like mass and momentum densities, which is the point of the following section.

#### 2.5 Eulerian continuum mechanics

In Eulerian continuum mechanics, we no longer track each material point. Moreover, it is easier in this setting to introduce dissipation because the Eulerian equations are formulated in the laboratory frame, not in the abstract Lagrangian frame. The Hamiltonian structure of Lagrangian mechanics is translated to a Hamiltonian structure in the Eulerian frame, as shown for instance by Beris and Edwards [Beris and Edwards, 1994]. Here, however, we choose more detailed Eulerian state variables, namely mass density, momentum density, entropy density, and the distortion field, which are defined in terms of the Lagrangian variables as

$$\rho(\mathbf{x}) = \rho_0(\mathbf{X}(\mathbf{x})) \cdot \det \frac{\partial \mathbf{X}}{\partial \mathbf{x}}$$
(2.28a)

$$\mathbf{m}(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{X}(\mathbf{x})) \cdot \det \frac{\partial \mathbf{X}}{\partial \mathbf{x}}$$
 (2.28b)

$$s(\mathbf{x}) = s_0(\mathbf{X}(\mathbf{x})) \cdot \det \frac{\partial \mathbf{X}}{\partial \mathbf{x}}$$
 (2.28c)

$$A^{I}{}_{i}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\partial X^{I}}{\partial x^{i}}, \qquad (2.28d)$$

respectively. For simplicity, we do not write the explicit dependence on time. Distortion is the inverse of the deformation gradient evaluated at the Eulerian coordinate and thus it measures the deformation [Landau et al., 1986]. With these state variables, we can express the conservation laws of mass, momentum, and energy, the second law of thermodynamics (after introducing dissipation), as well as the deformations of the continuum. Moreover, both fluids and solids can be described using the same set of state variables and their evolution equations thus share the same structure [Godunov and Romenskii, 2003].

Plugging functionals dependent only on the Eulerian fields (2.28) into Poisson bracket (2.25), we obtain the Eulerian Poisson bracket

$$\{F,G\}^{(A)} = \{F,G\}^{(FM)} - \int A^{L}{}_{i}(F_{A^{L}{}_{l}}\partial_{l}G_{m_{i}} - G_{A^{L}{}_{l}}\partial_{l}F_{m_{i}}) d\mathbf{x} - \int \partial_{i}A^{L}{}_{l}(F_{A^{L}{}_{l}}G_{m_{i}} - G_{A^{L}{}_{l}}F_{m_{i}}) d\mathbf{x},$$
(2.29)

which consists of the Poisson bracket of fluid mechanics,

$$\{F, G\}^{(FM)} = \int \rho(\partial_i F_\rho G_{m_i} - \partial_i G_\rho F_{m_i}) d\mathbf{x} + \int m_i (\partial_j F_{m_i} G_{m_j} - \partial_j G_{m_i} F_{m_j}) d\mathbf{x} + \int s(\partial_i F_s G_{m_i} - \partial_i G_s F_{m_i}) d\mathbf{x}, \quad (2.30)$$

and a part expressing kinematics of the distortion field  $\mathbf{A}$  [Pavelka et al., 2020b]. The evolution equations given by bracket (2.29) are

$$\partial_t \rho = -\partial_i (\rho E_{m_i}) \tag{2.31a}$$

$$\partial_t m_i = -\partial_j (m_i E_{m_j}) - \rho \partial_i E_\rho - m_j \partial_i E_{m_j} - s \partial_i E_s - A^L_{\ l} \partial_i E_{A^L_l} + \partial_i (A^L_{\ l} E_{A^L_l}) - \partial_l (A^L_{\ i} E_{A^L_l})$$
(2.31b)

$$\partial_t s = -\partial_i (s E_{m_i}), \qquad (2.31c)$$

$$\partial_t A^L_l = -\partial_l (A^L_i E_{m_i}) + (\partial_l A^L_i - \partial_i A^L_l) E_{m_i}$$
(2.31d)

and they can be used to describe for instance Eulerian elasticity in large deformations or non-Newtonian fluids. Equations (2.31) represent the reversible part of the Symmetric Hyperbolic Thermodynamically Compatible (SHTC) equations [Godunov, 1972, Godunov and Romensky, 1995, Dumbser et al., 2016, Peshkov et al., 2018], which is an approach towards continuum thermodynamics suitable large scale numerical computations [Reinarz et al., 2020] including shock waves and acoustic waves. It is also possible to transform the distortion to its inverse, which leads to evolution equation for the Eulerian deformation gradient [Hütter and Tervoort, 2009].

If the energy depends only on the left Cauchy-Green tensor,  $B^{ij} = F^i{}_I F^j{}_J G^{IJ}$ , where  $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{A}^{-1}$  and  $G^{IJ}$  is the inverse material metric (typically identity), Poisson bracket (2.29) can be reduced to a Poisson bracket with the left Cauchy-Green tensor (6 independent components) instead of distortion (9 components). For functionals that depend only on variables ( $\rho, \mathbf{m}, s, \mathbf{B}$ ), we then obtain Poisson bracket

$$\{F,G\}^{(LCG)} = \{F,G\}^{(FM)} + \int \left(F_{B^{ik}}(B^{jk}\partial_j G_{m_i} + B^{ji}\partial_j G_{m_k}) - G_{B^{ik}}(B^{jk}\partial_j G_{m_i} + B^{ji}\partial_j F_{m_k})\right) d\mathbf{x} - \int \partial_j B^{ik}(F_{B^{ik}}G_{m_j} - G_{B^{ik}}F_{m_j}) d\mathbf{x}, \qquad (2.32)$$

which gives evolution equations

$$\partial_t \rho = -\partial_i (\rho E_{m_i})$$

$$\partial_t m_i = -\partial_j (m_i E_{m_j}) - \rho \partial_i E_{\rho} - m_j \partial_i E_{m_j} - s \partial_i E_s - B^{jk} \partial_i E_{B^{jk}}$$

$$+ \partial_i (B^{jk} E_{m_j}) + \partial_j (B^{jk} E_{m_j} - E_{m_j})$$

$$(2.33a)$$

$$(2.33a)$$

$$+O_i(B^{jk}E_{B^{jk}}) + O_j(B^{jk}(E_{B^{ik}} + E_{B^{ki}}))$$
(2.33b)

$$\partial_t B^{ik} = -E_{m_j} \partial_j B^{ik} + B^{jk} \partial_j E_{m_i} + B^{ji} \partial_j E_{m_k}$$
(2.33c)

$$\partial_t s = -\partial_i (s E_{m_i}). \tag{2.33d}$$

The equation for distortion in the SHTC equations (2.31) is replaced by an equation for **B** containing the upper-convected derivative (note that the velocity is  $\mathbf{v} = E_{\mathbf{m}}$ ). In contrast to the traditional non-equilibrium continuum thermodynamics [Truesdell, 1984], the upper-convected derivative does not need to be assumed; it follows directly from Hamiltonian mechanics.

Equations (2.31) can be also interpreted in the context of the natural configurations framework [Rajagopal and Srinivasa, 2004, Málek et al., 2018, Leonov, 1976], where evolution of continuum is described using three configurations: a reference configuration, a natural configuration, and an actual configuration. Here, the reference configuration is the manifold of Lagrangian labels  $\mathbf{X}$ , and the actual configuration is the Eulerian laboratory frame  $\mathbf{x}$ . After introducing dissipation, which is done in Section 3 below, distortion can cease to be the gradient of the mapping from the actual configuration to the reference,  $\mathbf{X}(t, \mathbf{x})$ , but it goes from the actual configuration to the natural one [Pelech et al., 2020].

Moreover, when the functionals depend neither on the distortion field nor the left Cauchy-Green tensor, the kinematics is expressed only by the Poisson bracket of fluid mechanics (2.30) and the evolution equations are the compressible Euler equations,

$$\partial_t \rho = -\partial_i (\rho E_{m_i}) \tag{2.34a}$$

$$\partial_t m_i = -\partial_j (m_i E_{m_j}) - \rho \partial_i E_\rho - m_j \partial_i E_{m_j} - s \partial_i E_s \qquad (2.34b)$$

$$\partial_t s = -\partial_i (s E_{m_i}). \tag{2.34c}$$

When we change the variables from the energetic representation (having entropy as a state variable) to the entropic representation (taking energy density  $e(\rho, \mathbf{m}, s)$  instead), these equations become the laws of conservation of mass (or the continuity equation), momentum, and energy. The Poisson bracket of fluid mechanics can be also interpreted as the Lie-Poisson bracket on the Lie-algebra dual of volume diffeomorphisms, combined with the two vector spaces of the mass density and entropy density fields by means of semidirect products [Marsden et al., 1984].

The total entropy,

$$S = \int s \, d\mathbf{x},\tag{2.35}$$

is a Casimir of the above Poisson brackets, that is  $\{S, G\}^{(A)} = \{S, G\}^{(LCG)} = \{S, G\}^{(FM)} = 0$  for any functional G. Therefore, entropy is conserved by the Hamiltonian evolution regardless of the choice of energy. The second law of thermodynamics, which dictates that entropy of an isolated system must grow, will be satisfied after we add dissipative dynamics in Section 3.

So far, we have seen passages the from the Lagrangian continuum mechanics and bracket  $\{\bullet, \bullet\}^{(\text{Lagrange})}$  to the Eulerian continuum mechanics with distortion and bracket  $\{\bullet, \bullet\}^{(A)}$ , and from the latter to fluid mechanics with Poisson bracket  $\{\bullet, \bullet\}^{(FM)}$ . Those two passages are reductions of Poisson brackets because they can not be carried out in the opposite directions. In the next section, we show another way towards Hamiltonian fluid mechanics, based on a reduction from kinetic theory.

#### 2.6 Hamiltonian kinetic theory

Systems with many particles can be described for instance by means of positions  $\mathbf{r}$  and momenta  $\mathbf{p}$  of the particles, or by the probability distribution function dependent on those coordinates,  $f(t, \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p})$ . The former way leads to molecular dynamics while the latter to kinetic theory. Similarly as particle mechanics is a Hamiltonian theory, kinetic theory, when disregarding the dissipative dynamics like inelastic collisions, is also Hamiltonian.

When the one-particle distribution function  $f(t, \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p})$  is the state variable, the Poisson bracket expressing evolution of the distribution function is

$$\{F,G\}^{(B)} = \int \int f \cdot \left(\frac{\partial F_f}{\partial r^i} \frac{\partial G_f}{\partial p_i} - \frac{\partial G_f}{\partial r^i} \frac{\partial F_f}{\partial p_i}\right) d\mathbf{r} d\mathbf{p}.$$
 (2.36)

How to derive this bracket? From the geometric perspective, the bracket acts on the Lie algebra dual of the Lie group of canonical transformations [Marsden, 1982, Esen et al., 2019]. Alternatively, bracket (2.36) can be seen as the average of the canonical Poisson bracket (2.4) [Pavelka et al., 2018b].

The evolution equation given by the Boltzmann Poisson bracket is the reversible part of the Boltzmann equation,

$$\partial_t f = -\frac{\partial E_f}{\partial p_i} \frac{\partial f}{\partial r^i} + \frac{\partial E_f}{\partial r^i} \frac{\partial f}{\partial p_i}.$$
(2.37)

Similarly as in fluid mechanics, the total entropy<sup>7</sup>

$$S = \int \int \eta(f) d\mathbf{r} d\mathbf{p}, \qquad (2.38)$$

is a Casimir of the Boltzmann Poisson bracket and is thus conserved. The Boltzmann Poisson bracket is non-canonical.

The Boltzmann Poisson bracket provides an alternative way towards Hamiltonian fluid mechanics by reduction to the state variables of fluid mechanics

$$\rho(t, \mathbf{r}) = \int m f \mathrm{d}\mathbf{p} \tag{2.39a}$$

$$\mathbf{m}(t,\mathbf{r}) = \int p_i f \mathrm{d}\mathbf{p} \tag{2.39b}$$

$$s(t, \mathbf{r}) = \int \eta(f) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{p}, \qquad (2.39c)$$

where m is the mass of one particle. Plugging functionals dependent only on the state variables of fluid mechanics into Poisson bracket (2.36), we obtain the Poisson bracket of fluid mechanics (2.30), see [Pavelka et al., 2016]. Let us now consider an extension of fluid mechanics by coupling with the electromagnetic fields.

#### 2.7 Hamiltonian electrodynamics of moving media

Electrodynamics of moving media combines electrodynamics with motion of matter, for instance with Hamiltonian fluid mechanics. The Poisson bracket for electromagnetic fields  $\mathbf{D}$  and  $\mathbf{B}$ , which are the state variables in Hamiltonian electrodynamics, can be constructed from the canonical Poisson bracket for the electric displacement field  $\mathbf{D}$  and the vector potential  $\mathbf{A}$ ,

$$\{F,G\}^{(\mathbf{D},\mathbf{A})} = \int \left(F_{\mathbf{D}} \cdot G_{\mathbf{A}} - G_{\mathbf{D}} \cdot F_{\mathbf{A}}\right) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r}, \qquad (2.40)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>For instance,  $\eta(f) = -k_B f(\ln(h^3 f) - 1)$  for ideal gases Callen [1960], Pavelka et al. [2018b].

by letting the functionals depend only on the **D** field and the magnetic field  $\mathbf{B} = \nabla \times \mathbf{A}$  [Marsden and Weinstein, 1982]. Poisson bracket (2.40) then turns to

$$\{F,G\}^{(\mathrm{EM})} = \int \left(F_{D^{i}}\varepsilon^{ijk}\partial_{j}G_{B^{k}} - G_{D^{i}}\varepsilon^{ijk}\partial_{j}F_{B^{k}}\right)\mathrm{d}\mathbf{r},\qquad(2.41)$$

which is the electromagnetic Poisson bracket, leading to the vacuum Maxwell equations

$$(\partial_t D^i)_{\rm rev} = \varepsilon^{ijk} \partial_j E_{B^k} \tag{2.42a}$$

$$(\partial_t B^i)_{\rm rev} = -\varepsilon^{ijk} \partial_j E_{D^k}. \tag{2.42b}$$

Electric field and magnetic intensity in these evolution equations are defined as derivatives of energy,

$$\mathbf{E} = \frac{\delta E}{\delta \mathbf{D}}$$
 and  $\mathbf{H} = \frac{\delta E}{\delta \mathbf{B}}$ , (2.43)

respectively. Finally, to complete the set of Maxwell equations, we have to add the other pair telling that  $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$  and  $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{D} = 0$  in vacuum. These equations follow from equations (2.42) by applying the divergence operator by subsequent integration in time.

How to combine Hamiltonian electrodynamics with fluid mechanics? A geometric way towards electrodynamics of moving media uses the theory of semidirect products [Marsden et al., 1984], letting the cotangent bundle of  $\mathbf{D}$  and  $\mathbf{A}$  be advected by the motion of the fluid [Esen et al., 2016, Vágner et al., 2021]. This results into Poisson bracket

$$\{F,G\}^{(\mathrm{mEMHD})}(\rho,\mathbf{m},s,\mathbf{D},\mathbf{B}) = \{F,G\}^{(\mathrm{FM})} + \{F,G\}^{(\mathrm{EM})}$$
(2.44)  
$$+ \int D^{i} \left(\partial_{j}F_{D^{i}}G_{m_{j}} - \partial_{j}G_{D^{i}}F_{m_{j}}\right) d\mathbf{r}$$
  
$$+ \int \partial_{j}D^{j}(F_{m_{i}}\partial_{j}G_{D^{i}} - G_{m_{i}}F_{D^{i}}) d\mathbf{r}$$
  
$$+ \int B^{i} \left(\partial_{j}F_{B^{i}}G_{m_{j}} - \partial_{j}G_{B^{i}}F_{m_{j}}\right) d\mathbf{r}$$
  
$$+ \int \partial_{j}B^{j}(F_{m_{i}}\partial_{j}G_{B^{i}} - G_{m_{i}}F_{B^{i}}) d\mathbf{r}$$
  
$$+ \int B^{j}(F_{m_{i}}\partial_{j}G_{B^{i}} - G_{m_{i}}\partial_{j}F_{B^{i}}) d\mathbf{r},$$

which expresses kinematics of electrodynamics in coupling with moving charged matter [Holm, 1986]. The evolution equations implied by this bracket contain for instance the Lorentz force, which is a consequence of the geometric coupling Pavelka et al. [2018b]. Moreover, this Hamiltonian mechanics may be enriched by including the polarization and magnetization as state variables [Vágner et al., 2021].

In order to write the equations in a closed form, we have to provide a formula for energy. In this case, the energy is

$$E_{EMHD} = \int \left( \frac{1}{2} \rho \mathbf{v}^2 + \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{D} \cdot \boldsymbol{\epsilon}^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{D} + \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{B} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mu}^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{B} + \mathbf{v} \cdot (\mathbf{D} \times \mathbf{B}) + \varepsilon(\rho_{\alpha}, s) \right) d\mathbf{r}.$$
(2.45)

The set evolution equations obtained from bracket (2.44) is invariant with respect to the to Galilean transformations [Le Bellac and Lévy-Leblond, 1973, Matolcsi, 1993]. In other words, Hamiltonian electrodynamics with matter seems to lead to a Galilean invariant theory of electromagnetism. In contrast with the old Hertz's theory [Hertz, 1890], no aether seems to be necessary.

Apart from the free charge  $(\nabla \cdot \mathbf{D})$ , polarization charge, its conjugate momentum, and magnetization can be also added to this geometric theory by means of semidirect products. This results in a system of evolution equations for deformable dielectrics admitting polarization waves and for deformable magnetic media [Vágner et al., 2021]. So far we have discussed several examples of Hamiltonian continuum mechanics and connections between them. The next section defines in which sense the mechanical equations are called reversible.

# 2.8 Reversibility and Onsager-Casimir reciprocal relations

What is the meaning of reversibility of evolution equations? Imagine a bunch of classical particles moving according to the Hamilton canonical equations. When we record a video of their motion, we can play it backwards, flipping the momenta and the time stepping. Such flipping is called the time-reversal transformation (TRT). Motion of the particles on the backward movie is described by the same equations as when playing the movie forwards. In other words, Hamilton canonical equations are invariant with respect to the timereversal transformation. Quantities that are not affected by TRT are called even (for instance position, mass, energy, entropy, or electric field) while quantities that get an minus sign are called odd (for example momentum, velocity, or magnetic field). Even quantities are said to have parity  $\mathcal{P}$  equal to one while odd quantities have  $\mathcal{P} = -1$ .

We have already seen that Hamilton canonical equations (2.2) are constructed from a Poisson bivector and energy. Since the canonical Poisson bivector is a constant matrix, it is even with respect to TRT and the following formula holds for the bivector,

$$TRT(L^{ij}) = -\mathcal{P}(x^i)\mathcal{P}(x^j)L^{ij} \qquad \forall i, j.$$
(2.46)

Note that in classical Hamiltonian mechanics  $\mathbf{x} = (\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p})$ . Energy is not affected by TRT and is thus also even. Once condition (2.46) is satisfied for a Poisson bivector, the Hamiltonian evolution transforms under TRT as

$$\dot{x}^{i} = L^{ij} E_{x^{j}} \stackrel{\text{TRT}}{\Rightarrow} -\mathcal{P}(x^{i}) \dot{x}^{i} = -\mathcal{P}(x^{i}) \mathcal{P}(x^{j}) L^{ij} \mathcal{P}(x^{j}) E_{x^{j}}$$
$$= -\mathcal{P}(x^{i}) L^{ij} E_{x^{j}} \qquad (2.47)$$

and the image of Hamiltonian evolution under TRT is equivalent with the original equations.<sup>8</sup> Condition (2.46) can be thus seen as the condition of reversibility of Hamiltonian evolution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Note, however, that the TRT applies only infinitesimally in time.

Reversibility condition (2.46) is fulfilled by the canonical Poisson bivector, from which the reversibility is inherited by the Boltzmann Poisson bracket (2.36). Moreover, the condition of reversibility is valid in the case of mechanics of multiple particles, which similarly yields the reversibility of the Liouville equation (and of the underlying Poisson bracket). The Lagrangian Poisson bracket for continuum mechanics (2.25), which also fulfills condition (2.46), yields reversibility of all the implied Poisson brackets for Eulerian continuum mechanics with distortion, (2.29), with the left Cauchy-Green tensor, (2.30), as well as reversibility of the fluid mechanics Poisson bracket, (2.32). In other words, a Poisson bracket producing reversible evolution (satisfying condition (2.46)) generates a hierarchy of reversible Poisson brackets obtained by reductions from the original bracket.

Another consequence of the reversibility condition (2.46) are the Onsager-Casimir reciprocal relations (OCRR) [Onsager, 1931a,b, Casimir, 1945, Grmela, 1990],

- (i) variables with the same parities,  $\mathcal{P}(x^i) = \mathcal{P}(x^j)$ , (2.48a) are coupled through an symmetric operator,
- (ii) but variables with opposite parities,  $\mathcal{P}(x^i) = -\mathcal{P}(x^j)$ , are coupled through an skew-symmetric operator (2.48b)

with respect to simultaneous TRT and transposition [Öttinger, 2005, Esen et al., 2016, Pavelka et al., 2018b]. This might seem surprising, since OCRR are typically assigned to the irreversible part of the evolution [de Groot and Mazur, 1984], so we will illustrate OCRR for instance on the Poisson bivector of fluid mechanics,

$$L(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}') = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \rho(\mathbf{r}')\frac{\partial\delta}{\partial\mathbf{r}'} & 0\\ -\rho(\mathbf{r})\frac{\partial\delta}{\partial\mathbf{r}} & \mathbf{m}(\mathbf{r}')\frac{\partial\delta}{\partial\mathbf{r}'} - \mathbf{m}(\mathbf{r})\frac{\partial\delta}{\partial\mathbf{r}} & -\epsilon(\mathbf{r})\frac{\partial\delta}{\partial\mathbf{r}} + \frac{\partial\delta}{\partial\mathbf{r}'}p(\mathbf{r}')\\ 0 & \epsilon(\mathbf{r}')\frac{\partial\delta}{\partial\mathbf{r}'} - \frac{\partial\delta}{\partial\mathbf{r}}p(\mathbf{r}) & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (2.49)$$

where  $\delta = \delta(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}')$ . This operator is skew-symmetric, as each Poisson bivector. The terms coupling density with momentum (and vice versa) are even with respect to TRT. Therefore, the coupling between density (even) and momentum (odd) is skew-symmetric with respect to simultaneous TRT and transposition (using the adjoint operator). On the other hand, the terms coupling momentum with itself are odd and thus they provide symmetric

coupling. Onsager-Casimir reciprocal relation are present already in purely Hamiltonian mechanics.

Another unusual consequence of Hamiltonian mechanics is a Riemannian structure on the state space of the state variables, discussed in the following section.

# 2.9 Riemannian structure of Hamiltonian mechanics of hydrodynamic type

Although Hamiltonian mechanics is generated by a skew-symmetric bivector while the metric tensor in Riemannian geometry is symmetric, these two concepts are intimately related. When the Poisson bivector contains only ultralocal terms (proportional to Dirac  $\delta$ ) and weakly non-local terms (proportional to  $\nabla \delta$ ), it can be written in the following form,

$$L^{ij} = \{x^i(\mathbf{r}), x^j(\mathbf{r}')\} = g^{ij}(\mathbf{x}(\mathbf{r}))\partial_{\mathbf{r}}\delta(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}') + b_k^{ij}(\mathbf{x}(\mathbf{r}))\partial_{\mathbf{r}}x^k\delta(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}').$$
(2.50)

If, moreover, the energy does not depend on gradients of the state variables, the Hamiltonian system is called of hydrodynamic type, and the Hamiltonian evolution equations can be rewritten as a system of quasilinear first-order equations,

$$\partial_t x^i = \left( g^{ik} \frac{\partial^2 e}{\partial x^k \partial x^j} + b^{ik}_j \frac{\partial e}{\partial x^k} \right) \partial_{\mathbf{r}} x^j.$$
(2.51)

Any Hamiltonian system of hydrodynamic type generates a pseudo-Riemannian geometry on the manifold of state variables and the inverse metric tensor  $g^{ij}$  can be read from the formula for the Poisson bivector (2.50) [Tsarëv, 1991, Dubrovin and Novikov, 1983].

If the metric tensor is non-degenerate (det  $g \neq 0$ ), then  $b_k^{ij} = -g^{il}\Gamma_{lk}^j$  and  $\Gamma_{lk}^j$  are the Christoffel symbols of an affine connection. Moreover, the connection is then metric-compatible and Jacobi identity of the Poisson bracket yields zero curvature and torsion. Equations (2.51) can be then rewritten as

$$\partial_t x^i = g^{ij} e_{jk} \partial_\mathbf{r} x^k, \tag{2.52}$$

where  $e_{ij} = \nabla_i \nabla_j e$  is the second covariant gradient of the energy density e. After multiplication of these equations by the second covariant gradient,

which is symmetric and positive definite in the case non-degenerate metric and convex energy, the set of equations becomes symmetric hyperbolic [Friedrichs, 1978, Pavelka et al., 2020b]. Indeed, the matrix in front of the time-derivative is positive definite and the matrix in front of the spatial derivative is symmetric.

So far we have discussed the Hamiltonian structure of continuum mechanics. In the following text, Hamiltonian mechanics will be equipped with irreverible dynamics responsible for thermodynamic behavior.

# 3 Mutliscale non-equilibrium thermodynamics

"Thermodynamics is a funny subject. The first time you go through it, you don't understand it at all. The second time you go through it, you think you understand it, except for one or two small points. The third time you go through it, you know you don't understand it, but by that time you are so used to it, it doesn't bother you anymore."

— Arnold Sommerfeld [Angrist and Helper, 1967]

By thermodynamics, one often means classical equilibrium thermodynamics and its applications in heat engines. However, equilibrium thermodynamics is just a part of non-equilibrium thermodynamics, which describes also systems out of thermodynamic equilibrium. Is there a general structure behind non-equilibrium thermodynamics? And how to derive a less detailed nonequilibrium thermodynamic description from a more detailed theory? None of these questions has been answered satisfactorily so far, but we will discuss at least some partial answers.

## 3.1 Classical and multiscale non-equilibrium thermodynamics

Classical equilibrium thermodynamics stems from works of Carnot, Clausius, Joule, Kelvin, and others, and was given a geometric meaning by Gibbs [Carnot, 1824, Clausius et al., 1867, Gibbs, 1984]. A key concept in thermodynamics is the entropy, which has emerged when studying heat engines. Once the dependence of entropy on energy, volume, and number of moles of chemical constituents (the fundamental thermodynamic relation) is known, the equilibrium behavior of the macroscopic physical system is determined. Regarding evolution of the system, processes in classical thermodynamics are typically quasi-static, moving from one equilibrium state to another with infinitesimal velocity [Callen, 1960].

But what if the processes are faster than the time necessary for the equilibration of the system? The equilibrium description then turns inadequate, leading to *non-equilibrium thermodynamics*. In non-equilibrium thermodynamics, physical systems are described by more detailed state variables than the equilibrium variables (energy, volume, composition, and entropy). The state variables are then equipped with evolution equations, and future states of the system are determined by solving the equations [de Groot and Mazur, 1984].

Consider an isolated system in equilibrium (for instance a gas in a box), described by the equilibrium state variables. When it is brought out of the equilibrium by an external force, additional state variables on top of the equilibrium ones (for instance velocity of matter) start to play an important role. Which set of state variables is appropriate for description of the system? If the distribution of the velocities of particles of the gas is non-Maxwellian initially, the kinetic theory is most likely the appropriate level of description. However, after the time sufficient for restoring the Maxwellian distribution, hydrodynamics becomes compatible with the observed phenomena although it contains less details than the kinetic theory. And equilibrium thermodynamics will eventually become appropriate as the system reaches the equilibrium. In other words, any isolated physical system can be described on various levels of description and the less detailed levels become appropriate as the system gradually reaches the equilibrium. This is the *multiscale* character of non-equilibrium thermodynamics [Pavelka et al., 2018b].

The microscopic origin of classical equilibrium thermodynamics can be seen in statistical physics, where by maximization of entropy we obtain the equilibrium distribution function and the equilibrium fundamental thermodynamic relation [Landau and Lifschitz, 1969, Pavelka et al., 2018b]. And because classical equilibrium thermodynamics can be seen as the final stage of multiscale non-equilibrium thermodynamics, we can expect that non-equilibrium thermodynamics also follows from statistical physics. Statistical physics is actually a reduction method from more detailed levels (for instance from the knowledge of distribution function) to less detailed levels (for instance to the hydrodynamic fields). But in non-equilibrium thermodynamics there can still be some evolution on the less detailed level of description (unlike on the equilibrium level of description). Therefore, apart from the fundamental thermodynamic relation, we have to derive also the evolution equations on the less detailed level. Reduction of a detailed description to a fundamental thermodynamic relation on a less detailed level is called *static reduction* while reduction to the less detailed evolution equations is called *dynamic reduction*.

In contrast to mechanics, which is invariant with respect to the time-reversal transformation and thus reversible, thermodynamic behavior is irreversible [Pavelka et al., 2014]. Non-equilibrium thermodynamics thus contains both

the reversible and irreversible dynamics. Splitting the evolution to reversible and irreversible is a cornerstone of the *General Equation for Non-Equilibrium Reversible-Irreversible Coupling (GENERIC)* [Grmela and Öttinger, 1997, Öttinger and Grmela, 1997], summarized in monographs [Öttinger, 2005, Pavelka et al., 2018b]. In GENERIC, the evolution equations of chosen state variables have two ingredients: Hamiltonian mechanics and gradient dynamics. The former, which is reversible and keeps both energy and entropy, was discussed in Section 2, while the latter, which is irreversible and produces entropy or diminishes energy, will be discussed now.

## 3.2 General Equation for Non-Equilibrium Reversible-Irreversible Coupling (GENERIC)

GENERIC was developed in 1997 by Grmela and Öttinger [Grmela and Öttinger, 1997, Öttinger and Grmela, 1997] as a non-equilibrium thermodynamic framework unifying fluid mechanics, kinetic theory, and mechanics of non-Newtonian fluids. The main idea is to combine Hamiltonian mechanics (given by a Poisson bracket and energy) and dissipative gradient dynamics (generated by a dissipation potential and entropy) [Dzyaloshinskii and Volovick, 1980, Grmela, 1984, Kaufman, 1984, Morrison, 1984, Gyarmati, 1970]. A connection between GENERIC and fluctuations, turning GENERIC to stochastic differential equations, was shown in monograph [Öttinger, 2005], and the hierarchical geometric structure of GENERIC was summarized in monograph [Pavelka et al., 2018b].<sup>9</sup>

To construct a model within GENERIC, one first needs to define a manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  (or a vector space) of state variables  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{M}$  and four building blocks:

- 1. Poisson bracket  $\{\bullet, \bullet\}$
- 2. energy functional  $E(\mathbf{x})$
- 3. dissipation potential  $\Xi(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*)$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Instead of a dissipation potential, it is also possible to use a bilinear positive semidefinite operator called dissipative bracket [Morrison, 1984, Öttinger, 2005]. When the dissipative bracket is symmetric, it is equivalent to a quadratic dissipation potential. The question whether non-symmetric dissipative brackets are necessary has been long debated [Hütter and Svendsen, 2013, Grmela, 2018].
#### 4. entropy functional $S(\mathbf{x})$ .

The former two blocks constitute the Hamiltonian (reversible) part while the latter two form the gradient (irreversible) part. Moreover, conjugate variables  $\mathbf{x}^*$  are introduced as the derivatives of entropy,  $\mathbf{x}^* = S_{\mathbf{x}}$ . Within GENERIC, evolution on manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  is given as the sum of the Hamiltonian part and the gradient part,

$$\partial_t \mathbf{x} = \{\mathbf{x}, E\} + \Xi_{\mathbf{x}^*} \Big|_{\mathbf{x}^* = S_{\mathbf{x}}},\tag{3.1}$$

and since the Hamiltonian part has already been discussed in Section 2.2, we shall now focus on the gradient part.

To be consistent with the thermodynamics, the dissipation potential must satisfy the following conditions: (i)  $\langle \mathbf{x}^*, \Xi_{\mathbf{x}^*} \rangle \geq 0 \quad \forall \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*$ , (ii)  $\Xi(\mathbf{x}, \bullet)$  has a minimum at  $\mathbf{x}^* = 0$ , and (iii)  $\left\langle E_{\mathbf{x}}, \Xi_{\mathbf{x}^*} \Big|_{\mathbf{x}^* = S_{\mathbf{x}}} \right\rangle = 0$ . Condition (i) expresses consistency with the second law of thermodynamics,

$$\dot{S} = \underbrace{\{S, E\}}_{=0} + \left\langle S_{\mathbf{x}}, \Xi_{\mathbf{x}^*} \Big|_{\mathbf{x}^* = S_{\mathbf{x}}} \right\rangle \ge 0, \qquad (3.2)$$

noting that  $\{S, E\} = 0$  because S is assumed to be a Casimir of the Poisson bracket. Condition (ii) expresses that the irreversible evolution disappears in the thermodynamic equilibrium, where  $S_{\mathbf{x}} = 0$ . Condition (iii) ensures the first law of thermodynamics,

$$\dot{E} = \underbrace{\{E, E\}}_{=0} + \left\langle E_{\mathbf{x}}, \Xi_{\mathbf{x}^*} \Big|_{\mathbf{x}^* = S_{\mathbf{x}}} \right\rangle = 0.$$
(3.3)

Entropy increases in GENERIC while energy is kept constant.<sup>10</sup>

Condition (i), expressing the second law of thermodynamics, is automatically satisfied for convex dissipation potentials [Pavelka et al., 2020a, Roubíček, 2005], which is why dissipation potentials are usually assumed convex. Due to condition (ii) (minimum at the origin), dissipation potentials can be considered quadratic near the equilibrium. A quadratic dissipation potential can

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Note that for simplicity we assume only isolated or boundary-less systems, where fluxes of energy and entropy through the boundary disappear.

be expressed by a symmetric positive semi-definite operator  $\mathbf{M}$ , called the dissipative matrix,

$$\Xi = \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathbf{x}^* | \mathbf{M} | \mathbf{x}^* \rangle = \frac{1}{2} x_i^* M^{ij} x_j^*, \quad \mathbf{M} = \mathbf{M}^T, \quad \mathbf{M} \ge 0,$$
(3.4)

and GENERIC evolution (3.1) then becomes

$$\partial_t x^i = L^{ij} E_{x^j} + M^{ij} S_{x^j}, \qquad (3.5)$$

where  $L^{ij}$  is the Poisson bivector corresponding to the Poisson bracket. Condition (ii) is then satisfied automatically and condition (i) follows from the positive semi-definiteness of the dissipative matrix. Condition (iii) is translated into the requirement that  $M^{ij}E_{xj} = 0 \quad \forall i$ . This quadratic form of gradient dynamics has been developed by Landau and Ginzburg [Ginzburg and Landau, 1950] in the context of physics and by Otto in the context of mathematics [Otto, 2001].

An example of quadratic gradient dynamics in continuum thermodynamics is the Fourier heat conduction. The state variable is the field of total energy density e, the total entropy is a functional of e, typically  $S = \int s(e(\mathbf{r}))d\mathbf{r}$ , and dissipation potential is

$$\Xi^{(\text{Fourier})} = \int \frac{\lambda}{2} (\nabla e^*)^2 d\mathbf{r}.$$
 (3.6)

Gradient dynamics generated by this dissipation potential then reads

$$\partial_t e = -\nabla \cdot \left(\lambda \nabla e^*\right) \Big|_{e^* = S_e} = -\nabla \cdot \left(\lambda \nabla T^{-1}\right), \qquad (3.7)$$

where the inverse temperature is identified with the derivative of entropy with respect to the energy density. Heat flux is equal to  $J_{\mathbf{q}} = \lambda \nabla T^{-1}$  and heat thus flows against the gradient of temperature. The non-negative material coefficient  $\lambda$  can depend on energy and is proportional to the thermal conductivity. The implied evolution equation for entropy density s(e) is

$$\partial_t s = T^{-1} \partial_t e = -\nabla \cdot (\lambda T^{-1} \nabla T^{-1}) + \lambda (\nabla T^{-1})^2.$$
(3.8)

The former term on the right hand side represents negative divergence of the entropy flux  $\mathbf{J}_s = J_{\mathbf{q}}/T$ , which is the classical relation between heat and entropy fluxes [Landau and Lifschitz, 1969, Callen, 1960]. This relation can

be seen as a consequence of gradient dynamics, but notice that it needs to be generalized in the context of hyperbolic heat conduction [Pavelka et al., 2018b], [Szücs et al., 2021]. The second term on the right hand side of Equation (3.8) is the entropy production, which is clearly non-negative and ensures the second law of thermodynamics.

Another quadratic example is the isothermal viscous dissipation.<sup>11</sup> It represents irreversible evolution in the equation for momentum density  $\mathbf{m}$  and is generated by dissipation potential

$$\Xi^{(\text{viscous})} = \int \mu \mathbb{D}^2 d\mathbf{r}, \qquad (3.9)$$

where  $\mathbb{D} = \frac{T}{2} \left( \nabla \mathbf{m}^* + (\nabla \mathbf{m}^*)^T \right)$ . Once evaluated at  $\mathbf{m} = S_{\mathbf{m}} = -\mathbf{v}/T$ , we obtain that  $\mathbb{D} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \nabla \mathbf{v} + (\nabla \mathbf{v})^T \right)$ , which is the usual symmetric velocity gradient (or strain rate). The full GENERIC evolution for momentum density in isothermal fluids is the combination of the Hamiltonian part (Equation (2.34b)) and derivative of dissipation potential (3.9),

$$\partial_t m_i = -\partial_j (m_i E_{m_j}) - \partial_i p + \frac{\delta \Xi^{(\text{viscous})}}{\delta m^{*i}} = -\partial_j (m_i v^j) - \partial_i p + \partial_j \left( \mu (\partial_i v^j + \partial_j v^i) \right), \qquad (3.10)$$

where the pressure is equal to

$$p = -e + \rho \frac{\partial e}{\partial \rho} + m_j \frac{\partial e}{\partial m_j} + s \frac{\partial e}{\partial s}.$$
(3.11)

This formula is actually equivalent with the usual notion of pressure in systems with the local thermodynamic equilibrium Pavelka et al. [2018b].

Dissipation potentials for Fourier heat conduction and viscous dissipation involve spatial gradients, which is why they are called weakly non-local. Apart from these weakly non-local dissipation potentials, we often meet also ultralocal dissipation potentials, that involve no spatial gradients. Such dissipation potentials occur in chemical reactions [Grmela, 2012, Ajji et al., 2021], electrochemical reactions [Pavelka et al., 2015a], hyperbolic heat conduction, or plasticity [Dumbser et al., 2016, Godunov et al., 1996]. For instance the SHTC

 $<sup>^{11}</sup>$ For simplicity we neglect the bulk viscosity, treatment of which can be found in [Pavelka et al., 2018b], as well as the non-isothermal case.

equations have ultralocal dissipation potentials, where an irreversible term appears in the equation for distortion  $\mathbf{A}$  and another term (entropy production) in the equation for entropy [Peshkov et al., 2018]. Similarly, in the case of dynamics of the left Cauchy-Green tensor  $\mathbf{B}$ , an ultralocal dissipation potential can be used to formulate the Maxwell model of non-Newtonian fluids [Pelech et al., 2020]. An advantage of ultralocal dissipation potentials is that they do not alter the hyperbolic character of the evolution equations, but a disadvantage is that mathematical analysis (like proof of large-time existence and uniqueness of weak solutions) becomes difficult without the weakly non-local terms [Feireisl et al., 2016]. Anyway, gradient dynamics is responsible for dissipative behavior (raising entropy) and it produces irreversible evolution. Let us have a closer look at the meaning of irreversibility.

### 3.3 Time-reversal transformation and Onsager-Casimir reciprocal relations

The time-reversal transformation (TRT) is a tool that distinguishes between reversible and irreversible transformation, and we have already discussed it in the context of Hamiltonian mechanics in Section 2.8. We have already seen that Onsager-Casimir reciprocal relations (OCRR) are satisfied by Hamiltonian mechanics and now we will discuss TRT and OCRR in relation with the gradient dynamics. Both dissipation potentials and entropy are required to be even with respect to TRT, since flipping velocities of all particles could otherwise violate the second law of thermodynamics. Gradient dynamics then gets an extra minus sign under TRT with respect to the time derivative of the state variables,

$$\dot{x}^{i} = \frac{\delta \Xi}{\delta x_{i}^{*}} \stackrel{\text{TRT}}{\Rightarrow} -\mathcal{P}(x^{i})\dot{x}^{i} = \frac{\delta \Xi}{\delta x_{i}^{*}}\mathcal{P}(x^{i}),$$
 (3.12)

while the reversible part was invariant with respect to TRT.

When the dissipation potential is quadratic, its evenness leads to the condition

$$\mathcal{P}(M^{ij}) = \mathcal{P}(x^i)\mathcal{P}(x^j). \tag{3.13}$$

For instance the Fourier dissipation potential (3.6) corresponds to the dissipative matrix

$$M^{(e(\mathbf{r}),e(\mathbf{r}')} = \frac{\partial}{\partial r'^{i}} \frac{\partial}{\partial r^{i}} \left( \lambda T^{2} \delta(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}') \right), \qquad (3.14)$$

which is symmetric with respect to swapping  $e(\mathbf{r})$  and  $e(\mathbf{r}')$  and even with respect to TRT. It is thus compatible with OCRR (2.48) because it provides coupling between state variables of the same parity (energy and energy). Both parts of GENERIC are automatically compatible with OCRR.

Dissipation potentials can typically be expressed in terms is their density  $\xi$ , where  $\Xi = \int \xi d\mathbf{r}$ , and the density is a function of *thermodynamic forces*  $\mathfrak{X}$ . For instance, in the case of Fourier heat conduction we have  $\xi^F = \frac{\lambda}{2} (\mathfrak{X}^F)^2$  and  $\mathfrak{X} = \nabla e^*$ . By interchanging the second derivatives, we obtain that

$$\frac{\partial^2 \xi}{\partial \mathfrak{X}_i \partial \mathfrak{X}_j} = \frac{\partial^2 \xi}{\partial \mathfrak{X}_j \partial \mathfrak{X}_i},\tag{3.15}$$

which is a generalization of OCRR to the case of non-quadratic dissipation potentials. Thermodynamic fluxes corresponding to the thermodynamic forces are defined as  $\mathfrak{J}^i = \frac{\partial \xi}{\partial \mathfrak{X}_i}$ . One can then obtain additional Maxwell relations between the forces and fluxes, for example  $\left(\frac{\partial \mathfrak{J}^1}{\partial \mathfrak{J}^2}\right)_{\mathfrak{X}_1} = \left(\frac{\partial \mathfrak{X}_2}{\partial \mathfrak{X}_1}\right)_{\mathfrak{J}^2}$  [Grmela et al., 2015], as well as a generalization of the Braun-Le Chatelier principle for gradient dynamics [Chatelier, 1884, Pavelka and Grmela, 2019]. Instead of expressing dissipation potentials in terms of the thermodynamic forces, we can carry out the Legendre transformation to the dual dissipation potentials, which depend on the thermodynamic fluxes. This brings us to the concept of dual gradient dynamics, studied in the following section.

# 3.4 Dual gradient dynamics and non-convex dissipation potentials

In dual gradient dynamics the dual dissipation potentials are expressed in terms of the thermodynamic fluxes rather than in terms of the forces, which provides a tool for analyzing non-convex dissipation potentials. The definition of thermodynamic fluxes can be also interpreted as a solution  $\mathfrak{J}(\mathfrak{X})$  to the equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \mathfrak{X}_i} \left( -\xi + \mathfrak{J}^i \mathfrak{X}_i \right) = 0, \qquad (3.16)$$

which is actually the Legendre transformation from  $\xi(\mathbf{\mathfrak{X}})$  to the dual dissipation potential density,

$$\xi^*(\mathfrak{J}) = -\xi(\mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{J})) + \mathfrak{J}^i\mathfrak{X}_i(\mathfrak{J}).$$
(3.17)

The inverse Legendre transformation, from  $\xi^*$  to  $\xi$ , reads

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \mathfrak{J}^{i}} \left( -\xi^{*} + \mathfrak{J}^{i} \mathfrak{X}_{i} \right) = 0, \quad \text{or} \quad \frac{\partial \xi^{*}}{\partial \mathfrak{J}^{i}} = \mathfrak{X}_{i}.$$
(3.18)

If we have gradient dynamics

$$\dot{x}^i = \frac{\partial \xi}{\partial \mathfrak{X}_i},\tag{3.19a}$$

then the dual gradient dynamics is

$$\frac{\partial \xi^*}{\partial \dot{x}^i} = \mathfrak{X}_i. \tag{3.19b}$$

Dual gradient dynamics is used for instance when describing the austenitemartensite transformations [Tůma et al., 2018] and the Legendre transformation is also behind the formulation of continuum thermodynamics based on the Gibbs energy [Průša et al., 2020].

Let us now turn to the possibility of non-convex dissipation potentials in non-Newtonian fluids. Convexity of the dissipation potential is a sufficient condition for fulfillment of the second law of thermodynamics, but not necessary. The irreversible part of the Cauchy stress can be obtained similarly as in the Newtonian case, as the irreversible term under the divergence in the momentum equation,

$$\mathbb{T} = \frac{\partial \xi}{\partial \mathbb{D}}.$$
(3.20)

This relation is a particular realization of gradient dynamics in terms of the forces and fluxes (3.19a).<sup>12</sup> While in the Newtonian case the stress is proportional to the strain rate, a nonlinear relation has been observed in non-Newtonian fluids [Olmsted, 2008]. In [Boltenhagen et al., 1997], the stress-strain rate relation for a non-Newtonian fluid was acquired (Figure 3) by putting the fluid between two concentric cylinders, one of which is static while the other rotating, and by measuring the angular velocity and forces exerted on the cylinders. They observed that when varying the shear stress

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Note that the divergence operator in front of the stress tensor can be put into equation (3.19a), but we do not include it explicitly, for simplicity. Note also that we assume incompressibility until the end of this section. Therefore, we do not need to distinguish between  $\mathbb{T}$  and its deviatoric part and between  $\mathbb{D}$  and its deviatoric part explicitly. More details can be found in [Janečka and Pavelka, 2018].



Figure 3: Steady-state stress/shear-rate behavior for a 7.5/7.5 mM TTAA/NaSal solution from the controlled shear stress ( $\Delta$ ) and controlled shear-rate (•) experiments [Boltenhagen et al., 1997]. The dashed arrow indicates the experimentally observed jump in shear stress while the dotted arrow indicates the expected jump when lowering shear rates (hysteresis), based on the theoretical analysis. Figure adapted from [Janečka and Pavelka, 2018].

(slowly increasing the external force rotating the outer cylinder), the shear rate behaves continuously. On the other hand, when varying the shear rate (slowly increasing the rotation rate), the shear stress exhibits a jump. What is the reason for such asymmetry? Let us answer this question by phenomenological means.

The strain-stress relation  $\mathbb{D}(\mathbb{T})$  in Figure 3 can be obtained as dual gradient dynamics (3.19b)

$$\mathbb{D} = \frac{\partial \xi^*}{\partial \mathbb{T}} \tag{3.21}$$

with a dissipation potential motivated by Le Roux and Rajagopal [Le Roux and Rajagopal, 2013]. The dependence  $\mathbb{D}(\mathbb{T})$ , replacing  $\mathbb{T}(\mathbb{D})$ , is sometimes called an implicit constitutive relation [Málek et al., 2010, Perlácová and Průša, 2015]. Figure 4 shows the dual dissipation potential while Figure 5 displays dissipation potential  $\xi$  (obtained by the Legendre transformation of  $\xi^*$ ). Since  $\xi$  is multi-valued (not being a function), it has to be split into



Figure 4: Dual dissipation potential  $\xi^*(\mathbb{T})$ . The region C - D is not convex. The dashed tangent line B - E indicates the convex hull of the potential and coincides with the Maxwell lever rule construction. The region B - C and D - E are convex. Figure adapted from [Janečka and Pavelka, 2018].

several branches that are functions. On the other hand, the dual dissipation potential  $\xi^*$  is not multi-valued, which makes it easier to use than  $\xi$ . In the dissipation potential  $\xi$  in Figure 5, however, we can see an unstable branch (C-D), two metastable branches (B-C and D-E), and two stable branches A-B and E-F. Stability of the branches can be analyzed in a similar way as in classical thermodynamics [Callen, 1960] although here it is not caused



Figure 5: Dissipation potential  $\xi$  (D) obtained by Legendre transformation of  $\xi^*$ . In regions II and III, the potential is multivalued and the dashed curve C - D is an unstable branch. Curves A - B and E - F correspond to the convex hull of the dissipation potential  $\xi^*$ . Figure adapted from [Janečka and Pavelka, 2018].

by non-convexity entropy or free energy, but by the shape of the dissipation potential. Transition between the various branches can be then interpreted as a dissipative phase transition.

Let us now return to the question why behavior of the fluid is different when the stress is controlled from the case when the strain rate is controlled. When slowly raising the shear rate, we start in regime I in Figure 5, where shear stress is determined uniquely. After passing to regime II, another possible state appears, but the shear stress evolves continuously due to carefulness of the experimentalists (smallness of external perturbations). Passing also through regime III, point C (boundary between regimes III and IV) is reached, where the metastable state becomes unstable and the shear stress jumps to the stable state. That is why shear stress behaves discontinuously.

On the other hand, when slowly varying  $\mathbb{T}$ , there is always a unique value of  $\mathbb{D}$ , determined by slope of dissipation potential  $\Xi^*$  in Figure 4, and the slope varies continuously. That is why no jump in shear rate is observed in the experiment.

Moreover, it could be expected that when going back from high shear rates to the small ones, shear stress would fall as low as to point D, from which it would jump to the stable state on branch A. One should thus observe hysteresis in Figure 3, but no such experiment has been carried out.

The dual dissipation potential provides a phenomenological description of the observed experimental behavior. But how to derive such dissipation potential? Or how to derive dissipation potentials in general? There are several possibilities. If we know the statistical character of fluctuations of the state variables in terms of the theory of large deviations, a corresponding dissipation potential can be constructed [Mielke et al., 2014], using a generalized fluctuation-dissipation theorem [Mielke et al., 2016]. The dissipation potential can be also derived by a dynamic reduction from a more detailed dynamics, as in Section 3.6. Alternatively, if no such reduction is available, one can construct dissipation phenomenologically from purely Hamiltonian mechanics [Bloch et al., 1996, Pavelka et al., 2019b], which is discussed in the following section.

#### 3.5 Ehrenfest regularization of Hamiltonian systems

Ehrenfest regularization is a method converting a purely Hamiltonian evolution to a partly dissipative evolution. Averaging Hamiltonian evolution (2.6) over time  $\tau$ , we obtain, after an approximation, that

$$\frac{1}{\tau} \int_0^\tau \dot{x}^i dt = \frac{x^i(t+\tau) - x^i(t)}{\tau} \approx L^{ij} E_{x^j} + \frac{\tau}{2} \frac{\delta}{\delta x^k} \left( L^{ij} E_{x^j} \right) L^{kl} E_{x^l}.$$
 (3.22)

Ehrenfest regularization [Pavelka et al., 2019a] is then the evolution equation

$$\dot{x}^{i} = L^{ij}E_{x^{j}} + \frac{\tau}{2}\frac{\delta}{\delta x^{k}} \left(L^{ij}E_{x^{j}}\right)L^{kl}E_{x^{l}}, \qquad (3.23a)$$

which consists of the original Hamiltonian dynamics and an irreversible term (the second on the right hand side). The irreversible term increases all concave Casimirs of the underlying Poisson bracket, in particular the entropy  $(\dot{S} \ge 0)$ , and reduces the energy  $(\dot{E} \le 0)$ .

Moreover, the irreversible term can be split into two contributions, leading to two other forms of Ehrenfest regularization. The entropic Ehrenfest regularization,

$$\dot{x}^{i} = L^{ij}E_{x^{j}} + \frac{\tau}{2}\frac{\delta}{\delta x^{k}} \left(L^{ij}\right)E_{x^{j}}L^{kl}E_{x^{l}}, \qquad (3.23b)$$

conserves energy  $(\dot{E} = 0)$  and produces entropy  $(\dot{S} \ge 0)$ , while the energetic Ehrenfest regularization,

$$\dot{x}^{i} = L^{ij} E_{x^{j}} + \frac{\tau}{2} L^{ij} E_{x^{j} x^{k}} L^{kl} E_{x^{l}}, \qquad (3.23c)$$

reduces energy  $(\dot{E} \leq 0)$  and keeps the entropy  $(\dot{S} = 0)$ .

Which form of Ehrenfest regularization to choose? It depends on the quantities that should be conserved. The energetic Ehrenfest regularization can be used for instance in the case of rigid body rotation, where the Casimir  $\mathbf{M}^2$  (magnitude of angular momentum) is conserved while energy should decrease. We will explore this case in more detail below. On the other hand, the energetic Ehrenfest regularization can be used in the kinetic theory, providing growth of entropy while keeping the energy constant, which leads to kinetic equations with diffusion in space [Svärd, 2018].

The full Ehrenfest regularization (3.23a) is useful when constructing numerical schemes for non-canonical Hamiltonian mechanics. Indeed, using the forward Euler discretization of the full Ehrenfest regularization, (3.23a), while taking  $\tau$  equal to the numerical time step dt, we obtain a numerical scheme conserving both energy and entropy up to the second order in dt. Numerical results for rigid body rotation are shown in Figure 6a.<sup>13</sup>

On the other hand, the energetic Ehrenfest regularization of rigid body mechanics leads to results in Figure 6b. While the magnitude of angular momentum is conserved, the energy is reduced. Although in the purely Hamiltonian case (without any regularization), rotations around both the axes with the lowest and the highest moments of inertia are stable, only the latter is stable after the regularization. Such behavior was observed for instance in the unexpected change of rotation of the Explorer 1 probe [Likins, 1966].

Although Ehrenfest regularization leads to systems with desired thermodynamic properties (entropy increasing or energy decreasing), it is only a phenomenological way to dissipative dynamics. Moreover, it does not provide any information about the value of the relaxation time  $\tau$ . Ehrenfest regularization is, however, the first step in the Ehrenfest reduction, where dynamics on a detailed level of description is reduced to dynamics on a less detailed level [Gorban et al., 2001, Karlin et al., 2003, Pavelka et al., 2018a,b].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>The principal moments of inertia were chosen as  $I_z > I_y > I_x$ .



Numerical results of the full

Ehrenfest discretization (3.23a) for

rigid body. The solution is periodic

and preserves both energy and mag-

nitude of angular momentum.

(a)



(b) Forward Euler discretization of the energetic Ehrenfest regularization (3.23c) of rigid body motion. Only pure rotation around the z-axis is stable (even asymptotically stable). Pure rotation around the minor x-axis becomes unstable because it has higher kinetic energy for given  $\mathbf{M}^2$  than pure rotation around the major z-axis.

Figure 6: Evolution of components ( $m_x$  red,  $m_y$  green and  $m_z$  blue) of angular momentum of a rigid body observed from the body reference frame.

In the following section, we shall discuss another method that needs no a priori knowledge of the relaxation time.

#### 3.6 Lack-of-fit reduction

The lack-of-fit reduction is a method of dynamic reduction, reducing a detailed level of description with the GENERIC structure to a less detailed GENERIC [Pavelka et al., 2020a]. Similar goal (albeit without the underlying GENERIC structure) is carried out for instance by the Chapman-Enskog reduction (requiring dissipative terms on the detailed level) [Chapman et al., 1990, de Groot and Mazur, 1984], projection operator techniques (often leading to integrodifferential equations) [Zwanzig, 2001], or the Ehrenfest reduction [Ehrenfest and Ehrenfest, 1990, Gorban et al., 2001, Karlin et al., 2003, Pavelka et al., 2018a]. A special feature of the lack-of-fit reduction, which was first proposed in [Turkington, 2013], is that it leads to the GENERIC structure and that dynamics on the lower level of description can be dissipative even if the detailed evolution is purely reversible. Moreover, the method contains no fitting parameters.

Let us consider an upper level (more detailed) with state variables  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{M}$ , entropy  $\uparrow S(\mathbf{x})$ , energy  $\uparrow E(\mathbf{x})$ , Poisson bivector  $\uparrow \mathbf{L}(\mathbf{x})$ , and dissipation potential  $\uparrow \Xi(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*)$ , which constitute the GENERIC building blocks for evolution

$$\dot{x}^{i} = {}^{\uparrow}L^{ij}\frac{\partial^{\uparrow}E}{\partial x^{j}} + \frac{\partial^{\uparrow}\Xi}{\partial x^{*}_{i}}\Big|_{\mathbf{x}^{*}={}^{\uparrow}S_{\mathbf{x}}}.$$
(3.24)

A mapping  $\pi$  from the upper level  $\mathcal{M}$  to a lower level  $\mathcal{N}$  defines the less detailed state variables  $\mathbf{y} = \pi(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathcal{N}$ . What is the autonomous dynamics on the less detailed level (expressed only in terms of state variables  $\mathbf{y}$ )?

First we have to carry out the static reduction which leads to the entropy and energy on the lower level  $({}^{\downarrow}S(\mathbf{y}) \text{ and } {}^{\downarrow}E(\mathbf{y}))$ . In the static reduction the lower-level entropy  ${}^{\downarrow}S$  is obtained by evaluating the upper-level entropy  ${}^{\uparrow}S$ at the MaxEnt values,  $\mathbf{x}(\mathbf{y}^*(\mathbf{y}))$ . The MaxEnt (maximum entropy) values are obtained by maximization of  ${}^{\uparrow}S$  with the constraints that we know the value of  $\mathbf{y}$ , which gives the MaxEnt mapping  $\mathbf{y} \mapsto \mathbf{y}^* \mapsto \mathbf{x}$ . The image of the lower-level manifold  $\mathcal{N}$  under this mapping is a submanifold of  $\mathcal{M}$ , called the MaxEnt submanifold. The MaxEnt mapping can be interpreted as a sequence of two Legendre transformations, a non-invertible one from  $\mathbf{x}$ to  $\mathbf{y}^*$  and an invertible from  $\mathbf{y}^*$  to  $\mathbf{y}$ , as in Figure 7. Similarly, the lowerlevel energy  ${}^{\downarrow}E(\mathbf{y}) = {}^{\uparrow}E(\mathbf{x}(\mathbf{x}^*(\mathbf{y})))$  is obtained by evaluating the upper-level energy at the MaxEnt image of  $\mathbf{y}$ .



Figure 7: Relations between state variables on the upper level of description and the lower level and their conjugates. LT stands for Legendre transformations which are invertible. The MaxEnt mapping is not invertible.

After the static reduction, we can turn to the dynamic reduction, actually comparing the evolution equations on both levels. We are looking for a vector field<sup>14</sup> expressing evolution of the lower conjugate variables,  $\dot{\mathbf{y}}^*$ , [Turkington, 2013]. Imagine that we have such a vector field. Then residuum

$$R^{i} = \dot{x}^{i} - \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial y_{a}^{*}} \dot{y}_{a}^{*} = {}^{\uparrow}L^{ij} \frac{\partial^{\uparrow}\bar{E}}{\partial x^{j}} + \frac{\partial^{\uparrow}\Xi}{\partial x_{i}^{*}} - \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial y_{a}^{*}} \dot{y}_{a}^{*}$$
(3.25)

expresses the difference between the known vector field on the upper level (the right hand side of Equation (3.24)) on the MaxEnt submanifold and the MaxEnt mapping of the sought reduced dual vector field  $\dot{\mathbf{y}}^*$ . The residuum measures the lack of fit between those two vector fields on the MaxEnt submanifold [Pavelka et al., 2020a]. The lack-of-fit Lagrangian is then defined using the entropic norm (see [Gorban and Karlin, 2005]) of the residuum as

$$\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{y}^*(t), \dot{\mathbf{y}}^*(t)) = -\frac{1}{2} R^i(x(\mathbf{y}^*)) \frac{\partial^{2\uparrow} S}{\partial x^i \partial x^j} \Big|_{\mathbf{x}(\mathbf{y}^*)} R^j(x(\mathbf{y}^*)), \qquad (3.26)$$

where the MaxEnt values of  $\mathbf{x}$  were substituted into the expressions on the upper level of description. Action

$$\int_{t_0}^{t_1} \mathrm{d}t \,\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{y}^*(t), \dot{\mathbf{y}}^*(t)) \tag{3.27}$$

is then minimized<sup>15</sup>, keeping the initial time  $t_0$  and the final state  $\mathbf{y}_1^*$  fixed while letting the final time and the initial state vary. The reason is that as the final time  $t_1$  approaches infinity, the final state  $\mathbf{y}_1^*$  is expected to approach the thermodynamic equilibrium, determined by the maximum of entropy. The minimum of the action (denoted as  $\Psi(t_1, \mathbf{y}_0^*)$ ) then depends on the final time and initial state.

How to find the extremal trajectory  $\mathbf{y}^*(t)$ ? It is obtained by means of the Hamilton-Jacobi equations [Gelfand and Fomin, 2012],

$$-\frac{\partial\Psi}{\partial y_a^*} = \frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{y}_a^*}, \qquad (3.28a)$$

$$\frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial t} = \mathcal{H}\left(t, y_1^*, -\frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial y_a^*}\right), \qquad (3.28b)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Note that the right hand side of an evolution equation  $\dot{x}^i = X^i$  can be interpreted as components of vector field  $\mathbb{X} = X^i \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Note that the minus sign makes the Lagrangian positive definite, since the second differential of entropy is negative definite (concave function).

where  $\mathcal{H}$  is the Legendre transformation of  $\mathcal{L}$ ,

$$\mathcal{H}(\mathbf{y}^*, \mathbf{z}) = -\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{y}^*, \dot{\mathbf{y}}^*(\mathbf{y}^*, \mathbf{z})) + z^a \dot{y}_a^*(\mathbf{y}^*, \mathbf{z})$$
(3.29)

with the dependence  $\dot{\mathbf{y}}^*(\mathbf{z})$  calculated from  $z^a = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{y}_a^*}$ . Since the Lagrangian does not explicitly depend on time, we can assume that the action is time-independent and the Hamilton-Jacobi equation (3.28b) turns to

$$\mathcal{H}\left(\mathbf{y}^*, -\frac{\partial\Psi}{\partial\mathbf{y}^*}\right) = 0. \tag{3.30}$$

The minimal action  $\Psi(\mathbf{y}^*)$  is determined as the solution to this stationary Hamilton-Jacobi equation. Finally, equation (3.28a) can be rewritten, using the concrete form of Lagrangian (3.26), as

$$\dot{y}^{a} = {}^{\downarrow} \tilde{L}^{ab} \frac{\partial^{\downarrow} E}{\partial y^{b}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{*}_{a}} \underbrace{\left(\uparrow \Xi(\mathbf{x}(\mathbf{y}), \mathbf{x}^{*}(\mathbf{y}^{*})) + \Psi(\mathbf{y}^{*})\right)}_{={}^{\downarrow} \Xi(\mathbf{y}^{*})}, \qquad (3.31)$$

where  ${}^{\downarrow}\tilde{L}^{ab} = \frac{\delta \pi^a}{\delta x^i} {}^{\uparrow}L^{ij} \frac{\delta \pi^b}{\delta x^j} \Big|_{\mathbf{x}(\mathbf{y}^*)}$  is the lower-level bivector<sup>16</sup>. A GENERIC evolution on the upper level (3.24) is reduced to a GENERIC evolution on the lower level of description (3.31) by minimization of the lack-of-fit action (3.27). In particular, even if the evolution on the upper level is purely Hamiltonian, the evolution on the lower level can contain dissipation.

While functionals  ${}^{\downarrow}S$  and  ${}^{\downarrow}E$  are obtained by the static reduction, the lowerlevel bivector  ${}^{\downarrow}\tilde{\mathbf{L}}$  and dissipation potential  ${}^{\downarrow}\Xi$  are obtained by the dynamic reduction, minimizing the lack of fit between the exact evolution on the MaxEnt submanifold and the MaxEnt mapping of the reduced evolution. Even in the case of purely Hamiltonian evolution on the upper level ( ${}^{\uparrow}\Xi = 0$ ), the reduced evolution can be dissipative. Indeed, the lower-level dissipation potential contains the minimum of the action,  $\Psi$ , which may be non-zero. In other words, dissipation can be interpreted as an emergent property brought up by disregarding some details of the upper level of description [Pavelka et al., 2020a].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Note that it is not guaranteed that the reduced bivector satisfies Jacobi identity and if it is the case, the reduced evolution is actually called pre-GENERIC [Kraaij et al., 2018].

## 4 Conclusion, my contribution, and outlook

GENERIC is a framework for non-equilibrium thermodynamics combining Hamiltonian mechanics and gradient dynamics. It is constructed from four building blocks: an energy, an entropy, a Poisson bracket, and a dissipation potential. GENERIC is compatible with the first law of thermodynamics, the second law, and generalized Onsager-Casimir reciprocal relations. In contrast to other forms of non-equilibrium thermodynamics [de Groot and Mazur, 1984, Truesdell, 1984, Müller, 1985, Jou et al., 2010, Berezovski and Ván, 2017], which are based on balance equations and subsequent entropic closures, the Hamiltonian part of GENERIC is based on geometric mechanics while balance laws come as a consequence. Moreover, the building blocks of GENERIC can be used to conveniently pass between various levels of description, for instance via the presented hierarchy of Poisson brackets.

My main contributions to the Hamiltonian part of GENERIC are: (i) Clarification of the time-reversal transformation also for state variables without parity (for instance the distribution function in kinetic theory) [Pavelka et al., 2014], (ii) a hierarchy of Poisson brackets starting with Liouville equation and going to weakly non-local extensions of fluid mechanics including entropy (geometric grandcanonical BBGKY hierarchy) [Pavelka et al., 2016], (iii) the Hamiltonian structure of Eulerian continuum mechanics with distortion [Peshkov et al., 2018], (iv) the Riemannian approach towards hyperbolicity of Hamiltonian systems [Pavelka et al., 2020b], and (v) the Hamiltonian structure of electrodynamics coupled with motion of matter [Esen et al., 2016, Vágner et al., 2021].

Regarding the irreversible part of GENERIC, my main contributions are: (i) the GENERIC version of Ehrenfest reduction [Gorban et al., 2001, Karlin et al., 2003, Pavelka et al., 2018a], which resulted in the Ehrenfest regularization of Hamiltonian systems [Pavelka et al., 2019b]. (ii) We have also shown how to use non-convex dissipation potentials in GENERIC [Janečka and Pavelka, 2018] and what are the physical implications (phase transitions in the dynamic behavior of complex fluids). (iii) Finally, we have generalized the method of lack-of-fit reduction to non-Boltzmann entropies and non-canonical Poisson brackets while allowing also full GENERIC evolution on the upper level of description (instead of being only purely Hamiltonian with only the Boltzmann entropy) [Pavelka et al., 2020a].

Another area of my research, standing out of the scope of this thesis, is theoretical electrochemistry (related to my Ph.D. thesis). My main contributions are: (i) Generalization of the exergy analysis in thermodynamic optimization [Hoffmann et al., 2003], where in the case of non-isothermal boundary it is not entropy production that cases efficiency losses, but a related quantity (map of losses) [Pavelka et al., 2015a, Vágner et al., 2017], (ii) explanation why desorption in Nafion membranes (in hydrogen fuel cells) is faster than absorption [Klika et al., 2017], and (iii) calculation of the open-circuit voltage in vanadium and zinc-air redox-flow batteries better explaining the experimental data [Pavelka et al., 2015b, del Olmo et al., 2021]. Although the GENERIC framework has only rarely been applied in electrochemistry because electrochemical processes are usually purely dissipative [Pavelka et al., 2015a, Bedeaux et al., 2014], it might enrich electrochemistry by inertial effects (adding Hamiltonian mechanics [Ajji et al., 2021]) and by improving the transition state theory (by multiscale thermodynamics [Gorban, 2021]).

In future, I would like to address for instance the following issues:

- Where does GENERIC come from? Section 3.6 provides an answer by means of the lack-of-fit reduction, where GENERIC is derived from purely Hamiltonian mechanics by minimizing a discrepancy between evolutions on two levels of description. The method also reduces a full GENERIC evolution (including dissipation) to a less detailed GENERIC. However, the lack-of-fit reduction still contains several caveats. It has to be generalized to properly take into account boundary conditions, it remains unclear whether the method is transitive, and further numerical tests are needed to better understand where the method correctly approximates the detailed evolution. If successfull, the method could become a general tool for reductions in non-equilibrium thermodynamics [Gorban and Karlin, 2014].
- 2. The sum of Hamiltonian mechanics and gradient dynamics, on which GENERIC is based, is difficult to grasp from the geometrical point of view. Although each of the parts has its own well defined geometric setting, their sum lacks solid geometric formulation. So far the best choice for a geometry unifying both the reversible and irreversible parts of GENERIC seems to be the contact geometry [Arnold, 1989, Grmela, 2010, Pavelka et al., 2018b], but a comprehensive formulation of GENERIC including the infinite-dimensional case of fields is missing.

- 3. The Lagrangian continuum mechanics can be mapped to the Eulerian continuum mechanics with the distortion field, as in Section 2.5, and a further reduction leads to fluid mechanics. On the other hand, fluid mechanics can be also obtained by a reduction from kinetic theory (from the Liouville or Boltzmann equation). Can Eulerian continuum mechanics with distortion be obtained from kinetic theory as well? Answering this question would show how to add fluctuations to the equation for distortion, which should play a role for instance in simulations of colloidal solid particles by means of the dissipative particle dynamics method [Ellero et al., 2003, Hütter et al., 2018].
- 4. Superfluids, for instance liquid helium-4 at low temperatures, show remarkable behavior like flows through a very narrow capillary caused by a temperature difference [Landau, 1941]. The main approaches towards modeling of superfluids include the Landau-Tisza model, the Hall-Vinen-Bekarevich-Khalatnikov model (HVBK), the vortex filament model, and the Gross-Pitaevskii model [Landau et al., 1986]. Moreover, models for hyperbolic heat conduction have also been shown compatible with behavior of superfluids [Mongiovì et al., 2018]. Do all those models possess the GENERIC structure and are they related with each other via a hierarchy of Poisson brackets? Preliminary data indicate that GENERIC indeed provides a unifying framework at least for the Landau-Tisza, HVBK, and hyperbolic heat conduction models.
- 5. The equations describing processes in electrochemistry consist of purely dissipative drift-diffusion equations equipped at most with the Poisson equation for the electric potential. Such equations possess no inertial effects. On the other hand, inertial effects can affect rates of chemical reactions [Calef and Wolynes, 1983], and transport of charged species with inertia seems to be important on the nanoscale [Amatore et al., 2008]. The Hamiltonian electrodynamics of moving media, shortly presented in Section 2.7, should lead to a theory where both transport and electrochemical equations contain inertial effects, for instance wave-like propagation of polarization and magnetization, interacting with ultrafast electrochemical reactions. Moreover, this approach could lead to a fully Galilean invariant theory of electrodynamics of moving bodies approximating the Lorentz-invariant theory [Einstein, 1905] without the need of aether [Hertz, 1890].

- 6. Similarly as symplectic integrators exhibit superior numerical stability in simulations of particle mechanics, Poisson integrators should be advantageous when solving evolution equations of non-canonical Hamiltonian systems (for instance the Eulerian continuum mechanics) [Hairer et al., 2013, Leimkuhler et al., 2004]. Hamiltonian integrators should respect the Hamiltonian structure of the continuous equations. A way to derive them is the direct discretization of the action integral or of the underlying Lie group [Kraus, 2013, Gawlik and Gay-Balmaz, 2020]. On the other hand, GENERIC contains also irreversible evolution, which should be discretized as well, and several approaches have been proposed [Romero, 2009, Öttinger, 2018]. However, I believe that one should first derive a geometric framework covering both the reversible and irreversible parts of GENERIC, for instance the contact geometric approach above, and discretize that framework in order to obtain geometric integrators for GENERIC.
- 7. Finally, the multiscale character of non-equilibrium thermodynamics is closely related to pattern recognition. On the other hand, modern techniques of machine learning like autoencoders provide means of pattern recognition [Gorban et al., 2018]. Therefore, it seems that multiscale GENERIC could enrich machine learning by providing extra geometric structure while autoencoders could pave an alternative way for passing between levels of description [González et al., 2019, Chinesta et al., 2021].

# References

- A. Ajji, J. Chaouki, M. Grmela, V. Klika, and M. Pavelka. Fluctuating multiscale mass action law, 2021.
- C. Amatore, E. Maisonhaute, and B. Schöllhorn. L'électrochimie moléculaire portée à ses limites: Des cinétiques nanosecondes à l'exploration dynamique d'objets nanométriques. *l'actualité chimique*, 320-321, 2008.
- S. W. Angrist and L. G. Helper. Order and Chaos Laws of Energy and Entropy. New York: Basic Books, 1967.
- V. Arnold. Sur la géometrie différentielle des groupes de lie de dimension infini et ses applications dans l'hydrodynamique des fluides parfaits. Annales de l'institut Fourier, 16(1):319–361, 1966.
- V. I. Arnold. Mathematical methods of classical mechanics. Springer, New York, 1989.
- D. Bedeaux, S. Kjelstrup, and H. C. Öttinger. Nonlinear coupled equations for electrochemical cells as developed by the general equation for nonequilibrium reversible-irreversible coupling. *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, 141(12):124102, 2014. doi: 10.1063/1.4894759.
- A. Berezovski and P. Ván. Internal Variables in Thermoelasticity. Solid Mechanics and Its Applications. Springer International Publishing, 2017. ISBN 9783319569345.
- A. Beris and B. Edwards. Thermodynamics of Flowing Systems. Oxford Univ. Press, Oxford, UK, 1994.
- R. B. Bird, O. Hassager, R. C. Armstrong, and C. F. Curtiss. Dynamics of Polymeric Fluids, volume 1. Wiley, New York, 1987.
- A. Bloch, P. Krishnaprasad, J. E. Marsden, and T. S. Ratiu. The Euler-Poincare equations and double bracket dissipation. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 175:1–42, 1996.
- P. Boltenhagen, Y. Hu, E. F. Matthys, and D. J. Pine. Observation of bulk phase separation and coexistence in a sheared micellar solution. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 79:2359–2362, Sep 1997. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.79.2359.

- D. F. Calef and P. G. Wolynes. Classical solvent dynamics and electron transfer. 1. Continuum theory. J. Phys. Chem., 87:3387-3400, 1983.
- H. Callen. Thermodynamics: an introduction to the physical theories of equilibrium thermostatics and irreversible thermodynamics. Wiley, 1960. URL http://books.google.cz/books?id=mf5QAAAAMAAJ.
- S. Carnot. Réflexions sur la puissance motrice du feu et sur les machines propres à développer atte puissance. Bachelier Libraire, 1824.
- H. B. G. Casimir. On Onsager's principle of microscopic reversibility. Rev. Mod. Phys., 17:343–350, Apr 1945. doi: 10.1103/RevModPhys.17.343.
- S. Chapman, T. Cowling, D. Burnett, and C. Cercignani. The Mathematical Theory of Non-uniform Gases: An Account of the Kinetic Theory of Viscosity, Thermal Conduction and Diffusion in Gases. Cambridge Mathematical Library. Cambridge University Press, 1990. ISBN 9780521408448. URL https://books.google.cz/books?id=Cbp5JP20TrwC.
- H. L. Chatelier. Sur un énoncé général des lois des équilibres chimiques. Comptes-rendus de l'Académie des sciences, 99:786-789, 1884.
- F. Chinesta, E. Cueto, M. Grmela, B. Moya, M. Pavelka, and M. Sípka. Learning physics from data: a thermodynamic interpretation. In F. Barbaresco and F. Nielsen, editors, *Geometric Structures of Statistical Physics*, *Information Geometry, and Learning*, volume 361 of *Springer Proceedings* in Mathematics & Statistics. Springer, 2021.
- R. Clausius, T. Hirst, and J. Tyndall. The Mechanical Theory of Heat: With Its Applications to the Steam-engine and to the Physical Properties of Bodies. J. Van Voorst, 1867.
- R. Courant and D. Hilbert. Methods of Mathematical Physics. Number v. 1. Wiley, 2008. ISBN 9783527617227.
- S. R. de Groot and P. Mazur. Non-equilibrium Thermodynamics. Dover Publications, New York, 1984.
- D. del Olmo, M. Pavelka, and J. Kosek. Open-circuit voltage comes from non-equilibrium thermodynamics. *Journal of Non-Equilibrium Thermodynamics*, 46(1):91–108, 2021.

- B. A. Dubrovin and S. P. Novikov. Hamiltonian formalism of one-dimensional systems of hydrodynamic type, and the Bogolyubov- Whitham averaging method. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR*, 270:781–785, 1983. English transl. in Soviet Math. Dokl. 27 (1983).
- R. Dugas and L. de Broglie. *Histoire de la mécanique*. Bibliothèque scientifique (Neuchâtel, Switzerland).: Philosophie et histoire. Éditions du Griffon, 1950.
- M. Dumbser, I. Peshkov, E. Romenski, and O. Zanotti. High order ADER schemes for a unified first order hyperbolic formulation of continuum mechanics: Viscous heat-conducting fluids and elastic solids. *Journal of Computational Physics*, 314:824–862, 2016.
- I. E. Dzyaloshinskii and G. E. Volovick. Poisson brackets in condense matter physics. Annals of Physics, 125(1):67–97, 1980.
- D. G. Ebin and J. Marsden. Groups of diffeomorphisms and the motion of an incompressible fluid. Annals of Mathematics, 92(1):102-163, 1970. ISSN 0003486X. URL http://www.jstor.org/stable/1970699.
- P. Ehrenfest and T. Ehrenfest. The Conceptual Foundations of the Statistical Approach in Mechanics. Dover Books on Physics. Dover Publications, 1990. ISBN 9780486662503.
- A. Einstein. Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper. Annalen der Physik, 322 (10):891–921, 1905. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/andp.19053221004.
- M. Ellero, P. Español, and E. G. Flekkoy. Thermodynamically consistent fluid particle model for viscoelastic flows. *Physical review E*, 68(041504), 2003.
- O. Esen, M. Pavelka, and M. Grmela. Hamiltonian coupling of electromagnetic field and matter. Int J Adv Eng Sci Appl Math, 2016.
- O. Esen, M. Grmela, H. Gümral, and M. Pavelka. Lifts of symmetric tensors: Fluids, plasma, and grad hierarchy. *Entropy*, 21(9):907, 2019.
- L. Evans. *Partial Differential Equations*. Graduate studies in mathematics. American Mathematical Society, 1998. ISBN 9780821807729. URL http://books.google.cz/books?id=5Pv4LVB\_m8AC.

- M. Fecko. Differential Geometry and Lie Groups for Physicists. Cambridge University Press, 2006. ISBN 9781139458030.
- E. Feireisl, T. Karper, and M. Pokornỳ. Mathematical Theory of Compressible Viscous Fluids: Analysis and Numerics. Advances in Mathematical Fluid Mechanics. Springer International Publishing, 2016. ISBN 9783319448350. URL https://books.google.cz/books?id=51yXDQAAQBAJ.
- K. Friedrichs. Conservation equations and the laws of motion in classical physics. Communications on Pure Applied Mathematics, 31(1):123-131, 1978.
- E. S. Gawlik and F. Gay-Balmaz. A variational finite element discretization of compressible flow. *Foundations of Computational Mathematics*, 2020. doi: 10.1007/s10208-020-09473-w.
- I. Gelfand and S. Fomin. Calculus of Variations. Dover Books on Mathematics. Dover Publications, 2012. ISBN 9780486135014.
- J. W. Gibbs. *Collected Works*. Longmans; Green and Comp. New York, 1984.
- V. Ginzburg and L. Landau. On the theory of superconductivity. *Zhur. Eksp. Theor. Fiz.*, 20:1064–1082, 1950.
- S. Godunov. Symmetric form of the magnetohydrodynamic equation. Chislennye Metody Mekhaniki Sploshnoi Sredy, 3(1):26-34, 1972.
- S. Godunov and E. Romensky. Computational Fluid Dynamics Review, chapter Thermodynamics, conservation laws and symmetric forms of differential equations in mechanics of continuous media, pages 19–31. Wiley: New York, NY, USA, 1995.
- S. Godunov, T. Mikhailova, and E. Romenskii. Systems of thermodynamically coordinated laws of conservation invariant under rotations. *Siberian Mathematical Journal*, 37(4):690-705, 1996.
- S. K. Godunov and E. I. Romenskii. *Elements of continuum mechanics and conservation laws*. Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, 2003.
- H. Goldstein. Classical Mechanics. Pearson Education, 2002. ISBN 9788177582833.

- D. González, F. Chinesta, and E. Cueto. Learning corrections for hyperelastic models from data. *Frontiers Materials*, 6(14), 2019.
- Gorban. А. Transition states and entangled mass action Physics, 22:103922, ISSN 2211law. Results in2021.3797. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rinp.2021.103922. doi: URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S221137972100098X.
- A. Gorban and I. Karlin. Invariant Manifolds for Physical and Chemical Kinetics. Lecture Notes in Physics. Springer, 2005. ISBN 9783540226840. URL http://books.google.cz/books?id=hjvjPmL5rPwC.
- A. N. Gorban and I. Karlin. Hilbert's 6th problem: Exact and approximate hydrodynamic manifolds for kinetic equations. *Bulletin (New Series) of the American Mathematical Society*, 51(2):187–246, 2014.
- A. N. Gorban, I. V. Karlin, H. C. Öttinger, and L. L. Tatarinova. Ehrenfest's argument extended to a formalism of nonequilibrium thermodynamics. *Physical Review E*, 63(066124), 2001.
- A. N. Gorban, B. Grechuk, and I. Y. Tyukin. Augmented artificial intelligence: a conceptual framework. Feb 2018.
- H. Grad. *Encyclopedia of Physics*, volume 12, chapter Principles of Kinetic Theory of Gases. Springer-Verlag, 1958.
- M. Grmela. Particle and bracket formulations of kinetic equations. Contemporary Mathematics, 28:125–132, 1984.
- M. Grmela. Thermodynamical Lift of the Nonlinear Onsager-Casimir Vector Field, pages 199–207. Proceedings of the Workshop on Hamiltonian Systems, Transformation Groups and Spectral Transform Methods, J. Harnad and J.E. Marsden eds. CRM, Univ. de Montreal, 1990.
- M. Grmela. Multiscale equilibrium and nonequilibrium thermodynamics in chemical engineering. Advances in Chemical Engineering, 39:76–128, 2010.
- M. Grmela. Fluctuations in extended mass-action-law dynamics. *Physica D Nonlinear Phenomena*, 241:976–986, May 2012. doi: 10.1016/j.physd.2012.02.008.

- M. Grmela. GENERIC guide to the multiscale dynamics and thermodynamics. J. Phys. Commun., 2(032001), 2018.
- M. Grmela and P. Carreau. Conformation tensor rheological models. Journal of Non-Newtonian Fluid Mechanics, 23:271-294, 1987. ISSN 0377-0257. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0377-0257(87)80022-8. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0377025787800228.
- M. Grmela and H. C. Öttinger. Dynamics and thermodynamics of complex fluids. I. Development of a general formalism. *Phys. Rev. E*, 56:6620-6632, Dec 1997. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevE.56.6620. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevE.56.6620.
- M. Grmela, V. Klika, and M. Pavelka. Reductions and extensions in mesoscopic dynamics. *Phys. Rev. E*, 92(032111), 2015.
- I. Gyarmati. Non-equilibrium thermodynamics: Field theory and variational principles. Engineering science library. Springer, 1970.
- E. Hairer, C. Lubich, and G. Wanner. Geometric Numerical Integration: Structure-Preserving Algorithms for Ordinary Differential Equations. Springer Series in Computational Mathematics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013. ISBN 9783662050187. URL https://books.google.cz/books?id=cPTxCAAAQBAJ.
- W. R. Hamilton. On a general method in dynamics. *Philosophical Transac*tions of the Royal Society, (Part II):247–308, 1834.
- W. R. Hamilton. Second essay on a general method in dynamics. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society*, (Part I):95–144, 1835.
- H. Hertz. Ueber die Grundgleichungen der Electrodynamik für bewegte körper. Annalen Physik und Chemie. Neue Folge., XLI(11), 1890.
- K. H. Hoffmann, J. Burzler, A. Fischer, M. Schaller, and S. Schubert. Optimal process paths for endoreversible systems. J. Non-Equilib. Thermodyn., 28 (3):233-268, 2003.
- D. D. Holm. Hamiltonian dynamics of a charged fluid, including electro-and magnetohydrodynamics. *Physics Letters A*, 114(3):137–141, 1986.

- M. Hütter and T. A. Tervoort. Coarse graining in elasto-viscoplasticity: Bridging the gap from microscopic fluctuations to dissipation. volume 42 of Advances in Applied Mechanics, pages 253 - 317. Elsevier, 2009. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2156(08)00003-3. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0065215608000033.
- M. Hütter and B. Svendsen. Quasi-linear versus potential-based formulations of force-flux relations and the generic for irreversible processes: comparisons and examples. *Continuum Mechanics and Thermodynamics*, 25(6): 803-816, 2013. ISSN 0935-1175. doi: 10.1007/s00161-012-0289-y.
- M. Hütter, M. A. Hulsen, and P. D. Anderson. Fluctuating viscoelasticity. Journal of Non-Newtonian Fluid Mechanics, 2018. ISSN 0377-0257. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnnfm.2018.02.012. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0377025717305396.
- C. Jacobi. Sur un théorème de poisson. Comptes rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris, 11:529–530, 1840.
- A. Janečka and M. Pavelka. Non-convex dissipation potentials in multiscale non-equilibrium thermodynamics. *Continuum Mechanics and Thermodynamics*, 30(4):917–941, 2018.
- D. Jou, J. Casas-Vázquez, and G. Lebon. Extended Irreversible Thermodynamics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 4th edition, 2010. ISBN 978-90-481-3073-3.
- I. V. Karlin, L. L. Tatarinova, A. N. Gorban, and H. C. Öttinger. Irreversibility in the short memory approximation. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics* and its Applications, 327(3-4):399-424, 2003.
- A. Kaufman. Dissipative hamiltonian systems: A unifying principle. *Physics Letters A*, 100(8):419–422, 1984.
- J. G. Kirkwood. The statistical mechanical theory of transport processes I. General theory. J. Chem. Phys., 14(180), 1946.
- V. Klika, J. Kubant, M. Pavelka, and J. B. Benziger. Non-equilibrium thermodynamic model of water sorption in Nafion membranes. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 540:35–49, 2017.

- R. Kraaij, A. Lazarescu, C. Maes, and M. Peletier. Deriving generic from a generalized fluctuation symmetry. *Journal of Statistical Physics*, 170(3): 492–508, 2018.
- M. Kraus. Variational integrators in plasma physics. PhD thesis, Technische Universität München, 2013.
- J. Lagrange. Mécanique analytique. Number v. 1 in Mécanique analytique. Ve Courcier, 1811. URL https://books.google.cz/books?id=Q8MKAAAAYAAJ.
- J. Lagrange and J. Bertrand. *Mécanique analytique*. Number v. 2 in Mécanique analytique. Mallet-Bachelier, 1855. URL https://books.google.cz/books?id=TmMSAAAAIAAJ.
- L. Landau. Theory of the superfluidity of helium II. *Phys. Rev.*, 60:356–358, 1941. doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.60.356.
- L. Landau and E. Lifschitz. *Statistical physics*. Number pt. 1 in Course of theoretical physics. Pergamon Press, 1969.
- L. Landau and E. Lifshitz. *Mechanics*. Butterworth Heinemann. Butterworth-Heinemann, 1976. ISBN 9780750628969. URL http://books.google.cz/books?id=e-xASAehg1sC.
- L. Landau, E. Lifshitz, A. Kosevich, and L. Pitaevskii. Theory of Elasticity. Course of theoretical physics. Butterworth-Heinemann, 1986. ISBN 9780750626330.
- M. Le Bellac and J. M. Lévy-Leblond. Galilean electromagnetism. Il Nuovo Cimento B (1971-1996), 14(2):217-234, 1973. ISSN 1826-9877. doi: 10.1007/BF02895715. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02895715.
- C. Le Roux and K. R. Rajagopal. Shear flows of a new class of power-law fluids. Appl. Math., 58(2):153–177, 2013. doi: 10.1007/s10492-013-0008-4.
- B. Leimkuhler, S. Reich, and C. U. Press. Simulating Hamiltonian Dynamics. Cambridge Monographs on Applie. Cambridge University Press, 2004. ISBN 9780521772907. URL https://books.google.cz/books?id=tpb-tnsZi5YC.

- A. I. Leonov. Nonequilibrium thermodynamics and rheology of viscoelastic polymer media. *Rheologica Acta*, 15(2):85 98, 1976.
- P. W. Likins. Effects of energy dissipation on the free body motions of spacecraft. Technical Report 32-860, NASA, 1966.
- J. Málek, V. Průša, and K. R. Rajagopal. Generalizations of the Navier– Stokes fluid from a new perspective. Int. J. Eng. Sci., 48(12):1907–1924, 2010. doi: 10.1016/j.ijengsci.2010.06.013.
- J. Marsden. A group theoretical approach to the equations of plasma physics. Canad. Math. Bull., 25:129–142, 1982.
- J. Marsden and T. S. Ratiu. Introduction to Mechanics and Symmetry, volume Second edition of Texts in Applied Mathematics 17. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1999.
- J. Marsden and A. Weinstein. The hamiltonian-structure of the maxwellvlasov equations. *Physica D*, 4(3):394–406, 1982. ISSN 0167-2789. doi: 10.1016/0167-2789(82)90043-4.
- J. Marsden, T. Ratiu, and A. Weinstein. Semidirect products and reduction in mechanics. *Trans. Am. Math. Soc.*, 281:147–177, 1984.
- J. E. Marsden and J. Scheurle. The reduced euler-lagrange equations. *Fields Institute Communications*, 1:139–164, 1993.
- T. Matolcsi. Spacetime without reference frames. Akadémiai Kiadó, 1993. ISBN 9789630564335. URL https://books.google.ca/books?id=\_5\_vAAAAMAAJ.
- A. Mielke, M. A. Peletier, and D. R. M. Renger. On the relation between gradient flows and the large-deviation principle, with applications to Markov chains and diffusion. *Potential Analysis*, 41(4):1293-1327, 2014. doi: 10.1007/s11118-014-9418-5.
- A. Mielke, D. R. M. Renger, and M. A. Peletier. A generalization of Onsager's reciprocity relations to gradient flows with nonlinear mobility. *Journal of Non-equilibrium Thermodynamics*, 41(2), 2016.

- M. S. Mongiovì, D. Jou, and M. Sciacca. Non-equilibrium thermodynamics, heat transport and thermal waves in laminar and turbulent superfluid helium. *Physics Reports*, 726:1-71, 2018. ISSN 0370-1573. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physrep.2017.10.004. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0370157317303472.
- P. J. Morrison. Bracket formulation for irreversible classical fields. *Physics Letters A*, 100(8):423–427, 1984.
- I. Müller. *Thermodynamics*. Interaction of Mechanics and Mathematics Series. Pitman, 1985. ISBN 9780273085775.
- I. Müller and T. Ruggeri. Rational Extended Thermodynamics. Springer, New York, 2nd edition, 1998.
- J. Málek, K. R. Rajagopal, and K. Tůma. Derivation of the variants of the burgers model using a thermodynamic approach and appealing to the concept of evolving natural configurations. *Fluids*, 3(4), 2018. ISSN 2311-5521. doi: 10.3390/fluids3040069. URL https://www.mdpi.com/2311-5521/3/4/69.
- P. D. Olmsted. Perspectives on shear banding in complex fluids. *Rheol Acta*, 47:283–300, 2008. doi: 10.1007/s00397-008-0260-9.
- L. Onsager. Reciprocal relations in irreversible processes. I. *Phys. Rev.*, 37:405-426, Feb 1931a. doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.37.405. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.37.405.
- L. Onsager. Reciprocal relations in irreversible processes. ii. *Phys. Rev.*, 38: 2265–2279, Dec 1931b. doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.38.2265.
- H. Ottinger. Beyond Equilibrium Thermodynamics. Wiley, 2005. ISBN 9780471727910.
- H. Ottinger. GENERIC integrators: Structure preserving time integration for thermodynamic systems. Journal of Non-Equilibrium Thermodynamics, 43 (2):89–100, 2018.
- H. C. Öttinger and M. Grmela. Dynamics and thermodynamics of complex fluids. II. Illustrations of a general formalism. *Phys. Rev. E*, 56:6633–6655, Dec 1997. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevE.56.6633.

- F. Otto. The geometry of dissipative evolution equations: the porous medium equation. *Communications in Partial Differential Equations*, 26(1-2):101–174, 2001. doi: 10.1081/PDE-100002243.
- M. Pavelka and M. Grmela. Braun-Le Chatelier principle in dissipative thermodynamics. *Proceedings of Accademia Peloritana dei Pericolanti*, 97(S1): A22, 2019.
- M. Pavelka, V. Klika, and M. Grmela. Time reversal in nonequilibrium thermodynamics. *Phys. Rev. E*, 90(062131), 2014.
- M. Pavelka, V. Klika, P. Vágner, and F. Maršík. Generalization of exergy analysis. Applied Energy, 137(0):158 - 172, 2015a. ISSN 0306-2619. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2014.09.071. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306261914010198.
- M. Pavelka, P. Mazur, and F. Wandschneider. Thermodynamic derivation of open circuit voltage in vanadium redox flow batteries. *Journal of Power Sources*, 293:400–408, 2015b.
- M. Pavelka, V. Klika, O. Esen, and M. Grmela. A hierarchy of Poisson brackets in non-equilibrium thermodynamics. *Physica D: Nonlinear phenomena*, 335:54–69, 2016.
- M. Pavelka, V. Klika, and M. Grmela. Thermodynamic explanation of landau damping by reduction to hydrodynamics. *Entropy*, 20, 2018a.
- M. Pavelka, V. Klika, and M. Grmela. *Multiscale Thermo-Dynamics*. de Gruyter (Berlin), 2018b.
- M. Pavelka, V. Klika, and M. Grmela. Ehrenfest regularization of Hamiltonian systems. *Physica D: Nonlinear phenomena*, 399:193–210, 2019a.
- M. Pavelka, V. Klika, and M. Grmela. Ehrenfest regularization of Hamiltonian systems. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 399:193 - 210, 2019b. ISSN 0167-2789. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physd.2019.06.006. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167278918305232.
- M. Pavelka, V. Klika, and M. Grmela. Generalization of the dynamical lackof-fit reduction. *Journal of Statistical Physics*, 181(1):19–52, 2020a.

- M. Pavelka, I. Peshkov, and V. Klika. On Hamiltonian continuum mechanics. *Physica D: Nonlinear phenomena*, 408(132510), 2020b.
- P. Pelech, K. Tůma, M. Pavelka, and M. S. Martin Šípka. On compatibility of the natural configuration framework with GENERIC: Derivation of anisotropic rate-type models, 2020.
- T. Perlácová and V. Průša. Tensorial implicit constitutive relations in mechanics of incompressible non-Newtonian fluids. J. Non-Newton. Fluid Mech., 216:13–21, 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.jnnfm.2014.12.006.
- I. Peshkov, M. Pavelka, E. Romenski, and M. Grmela. Continuum mechanics and thermodynamics in the Hamilton and the Godunov-type formulations. *Continuum Mechanics and Thermodynamics*, 30(6):1343–1378, 2018.
- H. Poincaré. Sur une forme nouvelle des équations de la méchanique. C.R. Acad. Sci., 132:369–371, 1901.
- H. Poincaré. The value of science: Esential writings of Henri Poincaré. Modern Library, 2012.
- S. Poisson. Sur la variation des constantes arbitraires dans les questions de mécanique. J. Ecole Polytechn., 8:266–344, 1809.
- V. Průša, K. Rajagopal, and K. Tůma. Gibbs free energy based representation formula within the context ofimplicit constitutive relations for elasticsolids. International Journal of Non-Linear Mechanics. 121:103433. 2020. ISSN 0020-7462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnonlinmec.2020.103433. doi: URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0020746219308728.
- K. R. Rajagopal and A. R. Srinivasa. On the thermomechanics of materials that have multiple natural configurations part i: Viscoelasticity and classical plasticity. Zeitschrift für angewandte Mathematik und Physik ZAMP, 55(5):861-893, Sep 2004. ISSN 1420-9039. doi: 10.1007/s00033-004-4019-6. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s00033-004-4019-6.
- A. Reinarz, D. E. Charrier, M. Bader, L. Bovard, M. Dumbser, K. Duru, F. Fambri, A.-A. Gabriel, J.-M. Gallard, S. Köppel, L. Krenz,

L. Rannabauer, L. Rezzolla, P. Samfass, M. Tavelli, and T. Weinzierl. ExaHyPE: An engine for parallel dynamically adaptive simulations of wave problems. *Computer Physics Communications*, 254, 2020.

- I. Romero. Thermodynamically consistent time-stepping algorithms for nonlinear thermomechanical systems. *International journal for numerical methods in engineering*, 79:706–732, 2009.
- T. Roubíček. Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations with Applications. International Series of Numerical Mathematics. Birkhäuser Basel, 2005. ISBN 9783764372934.
- T. Ruggeri and M. Sugiyama. Rational Extended Thermodynamics Beyond the Monoatomic Gas. Springer, Heidelberg, 2015.
- F. Strocchi. A Primer of Analytical Mechanics. UNITEXT for Physics. Springer International Publishing, 2018. ISBN 9783319737614.
- H. Struchtrup. *Macroscopic transport equations for rarefied gas flows*. Springer, Berlin, Germany, 2005.
- M. Svärd. A new eulerian model for viscous and heat conducting compressible flows. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 506:350 – 375, 2018. ISSN 0378-4371. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physa.2018.03.097.
- M. Szücs, M. Pavelka, R. Kovács, T. Fülöp, P. Ván, and M. Grmela. A case study of non-fourier heat conduction using internal variables and generic. *Journal of Non-Equilibrium Thermodynamics*, page 000010151520210022, 2021. doi: doi:10.1515/jnet-2021-0022. URL https://doi.org/10.1515/jnet-2021-0022.
- C. Truesdell. *Rational thermodynamics*. Springer, New York, NY USA, 2nd ed. edition, 1984.
- S. Tsarëv. The geometry of Hamiltonian systems of hydrodynamic type. The generalized hodograph method. *Math. USSR Izv.*, 37(2):397, 1991.
- K. Tůma, S. Stupkiewicz, and P. H. Rate-independent dissipation in phasefield modelling of displacive transformations. J. Mech. Phys. Solids, 114: 117–142, 2018.

- B. Turkington. An optimization principle for deriving nonequilibrium statistical models of hamiltonian dynamics. J Stat Phys, 152:569–597, 2013.
- P. Vágner, M. Pavelka, and O. Esen. Multiscale thermodynamics of charged mixtures. *Continuum Mechanics and Thermodynamics*, 33:237–268, 2021.
- P. Vágner, M. Pavelka, and F. Maršík. Pitfalls of exergy analysis. J. Non-Equilib. Thermodyn., 42(2):201–216, 2017.
- R. Zwanzig. Nonequilibrium Statistical Mechanics. Oxford University Press, USA, 2001. ISBN 9780198032151.

# 6 Attached papers

6.1 Ilya Peshkov, Michal Pavelka, Evgeniy Romenski, and Miroslav Grmela. Continuum Mechanics and Thermodynamics in the Hamilton and the Godunovtype Formulations. *Continuum Mechanics and Thermodynamics*, 30(6), 1343-1378, 2018.
6.2 Michal Pavelka, Ilya Peshkov, and Václav Klika. On Hamiltonian continuum mechanics. *Physica D: Nonlinear phenomena*, 408, 132510, 2020. 6.3 Petr Vágner, Michal Pavelka, and Oğul Esen. Multiscale thermodynamics of charged mixtures. *Continuum Mechanics and Thermodynamics*, 33, 237-268, 2021. 6.4 Adam Janečka and Michal Pavelka. Non-convex dissipation potentials in multiscale non-equilibrium thermodynamics. *Continuum Mechanics and Thermodynamics*, 30(4), 917-941, 2018. 6.5 Michal Pavelka, Václav Klika, and Miroslav Grmela. Ehrenfest regularization of Hamiltonian systems. *Physica D: Nonlinear phenomena*, 399, 193-210, 2019. 6.6 Michal Pavelka, Václav Klika, and Miroslav Grmela. Generalization of the dynamical lack-of-fit reduction. Journal of Statistical Physics, 181(1), 19-52, 2020.